## RECENT FINDINGS IN KYNURENINE RESEARCH IN THE FIELD OF EXPERIMENTAL EPILEPSY AND STROKE MODELS. ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL, BEHAVIOURAL AND HISTOLOGICAL STUDIES

Ph.D. Thesis

Hermina Robotka

Department of Physiology, Anatomy and Neuroscience Department of Neurology University of Szeged

Szeged 2009

#### Scientific publications of the author of the Ph.D. thesis Original papers directly related to the thesis

- I. Németh, H., **Robotka, H.**, Kis, Z., Rózsa, É., Janáky, T., Somlai, C., Marosi, M., Farkas, T., Toldi, J. and Vécsei, L. (2004) Kynurenine administered together with probenecid markedly inhibits pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures. An electrophysiological and behavioural study. *Neuropharmacology*, **47**: 916-925. (IF: 3.734)
- II. **<u>Robotka, H.</u>**, Németh, H., Somlai, C., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. (2005) Systemically administered glucosamine-kynurenic acid, but not pure kynurenic acid, is effective in decreasing the evoked activity in area CA1 of the rat hippocampus. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, **513**: 75-80.

(IF: 2.477)

III. <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Sas, K., Ágoston, M., Rózsa, É., Szénási, G., Gigler, G., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. (2008) Neuroprotection achieved in the ischaemic rat cortex with L-kynurenine sulphate. *Life Sciences*, 82: 915-919.

(IF: 2.257)

IV. Sas, K., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Rózsa, É., Ágoston, M., Szénási, G., Gigler, G., Marosi, M., Kis, Z., Farkas, T., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. (2008) Kynurenine diminishes the ischemia-induced histological and electrophysiological deficits in the rat hippocampus. *Neurobiology of Disease*, **32**: 302-8.

(IF: 4.377)

#### **Total impact factor: 12.845**

#### Papers connected to the thesis

- I. Nemeth, H., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Toldi, J. and Vecsei L. (2007) Kynurenines in the central nervous system: Recent developments. *Central Nervous System Agents in Medical Chemistry*, **7**: 45-56.
- II. Sas, K., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Toldi, J. and Vécsei, L. (2007) Mitochondria, metabolic disturbances, oxidative stress and the kynurenine system, with focus on neurodegenerative disorders. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 257: 221-239. (IF: 2.315)
- III. Rózsa, E., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Nagy, D., Farkas, T., Sas, K., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. (2008) The pentylenetetrazole-induced activity in the hippocampus can be inhibited by the conversion of L-kynurenine to kynurenic acid: an in vitro study. *Brain Research Bulletin*, **76**: 474-9. (IF: 1.943)
- IV. Rózsa, E., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. (2008) The Janus-face kynurenic acid. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 115: 1087-91.

(IF: 2.672)

V. Knyihar-Csillik, E., Mihaly, A., Krisztin-Peva, B., **Robotka, H.**, Szatmari, I., Fulop, F., Toldi, J., Csillik, B. and Vecsei L. (2008) The kynurenate analog SZR-72 prevents the nitroglycerol-induced increase of c-fos immunoreactivity in the rat caudal trigeminal nucleus: comparative studies of the effects of SZR-72 and kynurenic acid. *Neuroscience Research*, **61**: 429-32.

(IF: 2.121)

VI. <u>**Robotka, H.</u>**, Toldi, J. and Vécsei, L. (2008) L-kynurenine: metabolism and mechanism of neuroprotection. *Future Neurology*, **3**: 169-188.</u>

#### **Other papers**

I. Szegedi, V., Fülöp, L., Farkas, T., Rózsa, E., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Kis, Z., Penke, Z., Horváth, S., Molnár, Z., Datki, Z., Soós, K., Toldi, J., Budai, D., Zarándi, M. and Penke, B. (2005) Pentapeptides derived from Aβ1–42 protect neurons from the modulatory effect of Aβ fibrils—an in vitro and in vivo electrophysiological study. *Neurobiology of Disease*, **18**: 499-508.

(IF: 4.048)

II. Marosi, M., Rákos, G., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Németh, H., Sas, K., Kis, Z., Farkas, T., Lür, Gy., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. (2006) Hippocampal (CA1) activities in Wistar rats from different vendors: Fundamental differences in acute ischemia. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, **156**: 231-235. (IF: 2.243)

#### Cumulative impact factor: 28.187

#### Abstracts connected to the Ph.D. thesis Abstracts directly related to the thesis

- I. **Robotka, H.**, Marosi, M., Németh, H., Toldi, J. and Vécsei, L. Effect of kynurenine (IP) on pentylenetetrazol-induced seizure in the rat hippocampus. *IBRO International Workshop, Budapest, 29-31. January, 2004, Clinical Neuroscience* **57**: 57
- II. <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Marosi, M., Németh, H., Lür, G., Somlai, C., Toldi, J. and Vécsei, L. Systemically administered glucoseamine-kynurenic acid, but not pure kynurenic acid, is effective in decreasing the evoked activity in area CA1 of the rat hippocampus. 11<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the Hungarian Neuroscience Society, Pécs, 25-29. January, 2005, Clinical Neuroscience 58:
- III. Németh, H., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Marosi, M., Kis, Z., Farkas, T., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. Kynurenine administered together with probenecid markedly inhibits pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures. An electrophysiological and behavioural study. 11<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the Hungarian Neuroscience Society, Pécs, 25-29. January, 2005, Clinical Neuroscience 58:
- IV. **Robotka, H.** Kynurenine administered together with probenecid markedly inhibits pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures. 2<sup>nd</sup> Central And Eastern European Meeting, *Prague*, 2005.
- V. <u>**Robotka, H.</u>,** Németh, H., Rózsa, É., Sas, K., Toldi, J., Vécsei, L. Az L-kinurenin neuroprotektív hatásának vizsgálata *in vivo* kísérletekben. *Magyar Élettani Társaság LXX. Vándorgyűlése, Szeged, 2006. június 7-9.*</u>
- VI. Vécsei, L., Knyihár, E., Klivényi, P., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Rózsa, É., Toldi, J. Neurodegeneráció, neuroprotekció és kinureninek. *Magyar Idegtudományi* Társaság XI. Konferenciája, Szeged, 2007. január 24-27.
- VII. Toldi, J., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Kopcsanyi, T., Sas, K., Rakos,G., Kis, Z., Farkas, T., Marosi, M., Vecsei, L., Racekova, E. and Burda, J. Neuroprotective effects of repeated transient global ischemia and of kynurenine administration induced by four-vessel occlusions on hippocampal CA1 neurons. 7<sup>th</sup> Göttingen Meeting of the German Neuroscience Society, 31<sup>th</sup> Göttingen Neurobiology Conference, March 29 – April 1. 2007. T35-16C.
- VIII. <u>Robotka, H.</u> Recent findings in kynurenine research in the field of experimental stroke models. *3rd Central Eastern European Neurological Symposium, Szeged, Hotel Novotel April 26-28, 2007.*

- IX. <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Sas, K., Ágoston, M., Rózsa, É., Szénási, G., Gigler, G., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. Neuroprotective effects of L-Kynurenine sulfate in combination with Probenecid in the ischemic rat brain. *IBRO International Workshop, Debrecen, 24-26 January, 2008.*
- X. Sas, K., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Rózsa, É, Ágoston, M., Szénási, G., Gigler, G., Marosi, M., Kis, Zs., Farkas, T., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. L-kynurenine sulphate rescues the ischemia-induced deficit in the rat hippocampal CA1 neurons. A complex histological and electrophysiological study. Poster. 12<sup>th</sup> Congress of the European Federation of Neurological Societies, Madrid, Spain, Abstract book, p. 77, 2008.
- XI. Toldi, J., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Sas, K., Rózsa, É., Farkas, T., Kis, Z., Marosi, M., Nagy, D. and Vécsei, L. Kynurenines and the neuroprotection. 6<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Experimental and Clinical Neurobiology, Kosice, Slovakia, Abstract book, p. 98, 2008.

#### **Other abstracts**

- I. Marosi, M., Rákos, G., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Németh, H., Sas, K., Nagy, D., Lür, G., Kis, Z., Farkas, T., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. Fundamental differences in the acute but not in chronic ischemic tolerance of hippocampal CA1 region between wistar rats from different vendors. *IBRO International Workshop, Budapest, 26-28, January, 2006.*
- II. Rózsa, É., <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Sas, K., Vécsei, L., Toldi, J. Az L-kinurenin neuroprotekcióban betöltött szerepe *in vitro* hippocampális agyszelet preparátumon. *Magyar Élettani Társaság LXX. Vándorgyűlése, Szeged, 2006. június 7-9.*
- III. <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Burda, J., Sas, K., Racekova, E., Rákos, G., Kis, z., Farkas, T., Marosi, M., Vécsei, L. and Toldi, J. Neuroprotective effects of repeated transient global ischemia induced by four-vessel occlusions on hippocampal CA1 neurons. *FENS Abstr.*, vol.3, A237.32, 2006.
- IV. <u>Robotka, H.</u>, Rózsa, É., Kopcsányi, T., Berkecz, R., Péter, A., Szatmáry, I., Fülöp, F., Vécsei, L., Toldi, J. Egy új kinurénsav származék vizsgálata *in vivo* és *in vitro* módszerekkel. *Magyar Idegtudományi Társaság XI. Konferenciája, Szeged, 2007. január 24-27.*

## Table of contents

ABBREVIATIONS	
SUMMARY	
INTRODUCTION	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
1. Animals	
2. Drugs	
3. Animal models and methods	
3.1. Acute PTZ-induced seizures	
3.1.1. In vivo electrophysiology	25
3.1.2. Behavioural studies	26
3.1.2.1. Water-maze task	26
3.1.2.2. Open-field observations	27
3.2. Four-vessel occlusion (4VO) model of transient global ischemia	27
3.2.1. Histological evaluation	29
3.2.2. In vitro electrophysiology	30
3.2.3. HPLC-MS/MS analysis of L-KYN and KYNA levels in the	
plasma and brain tissue	31
3.3. Comparative in vivo electrophysiological examination of KYNA and	
G-KYNA	31
4. Statistical analysis	31
RESULTS	33
1. Acute PTZ-induced seizures	33
1.1 In vivo electrophysiology	33
1.1.1. Effects of L-KYN	33
1.1.2. Effects of PROB	33
1.1.3. Effects of L-KYN+PROB	34
1.1.4. Effects of PTZ	35
1.1.5. Effects of L-KYN+PROB+PTZ	35
1.2. Behavioural experiments	36
1.2.1. General observations	36
1.2.2. Water-maze performance	37
1.2.3. Open-field observations	37
2. 4VO model of transient global ischemia	38

2.1. Neuroprotective effects of L-KYN+PROB-treatments on cortical rat	
brain slices	38
2.2. Neuroprotective effects of L-KYN+PROB-treatments on hippocampal	
rat brain slices	41
2.3. In vitro electrophysiology	43
2.4. Plasma and brain L-KYN and KYNA concentrations	45
3. Comparative in vivo electrophysiological examination of KYNA and	
G-KYNA	
3.1. Effects of KYNA	46
3.2. Effects of G-KYNA	46
3.3. Effects of PROB	47
3.4. Effects of KYNA+PROB	
3.5. Effects of G-KYNA+PROB	47
3.6. Blood pressure	48
DISCUSSION	49
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	54
REFERENCES	55
APPENDIX	

## Abbreviations

ACSF	artificial cerebrospinal fluid solution
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AMPA	α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid
α7-nACh	α-7-nicotinic acetycholine
BBB	blood-brain barrier
CNS	central nervous system
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
EAA	excitatory amino acid
EST assembly	Expressed Sequence Tag assembly
fEPSPs	field excitatory postsynaptic potentials
FJ	Fluoro Jade B <sup>®</sup>
$FJ^+$	FJ-B positive
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
G-KYNA	glucoseamine-KYNA
3-HANA	3-hydroxyanthranilic acid
3-HAO	3- hydroxyanthranilate 3 4-dioxygenase
HD	Huntington's disease
HFS	high-frequency stimulation
3-HK	3-hydroxykynurenine
IDO1	indoleamine 2 3-dioxygenase-1
	indolemine 2,3-dioxygenase-2
10	input_output
in	intraperitoneally
1.p. ΚΔΤς	kynurenine aminotransferases
KA13 KD	kynurenine pathway
	kynurenic acid
I KVN	L kynurenine
L-KIN L KVN DDOR AVO	L-Kyllulchille
L-KIN+FKOD-4VO	L-KIN + FROD pre-treated animals
	middle combrel ortery
	mitochondrial aspartata aminotransforasa
	mitochondrial aspartate animotralisterase
	Multiple coloracio
	multiple sciencists
	nicotinamide ademine dinucleotide
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
Neun	anti-neuronal nuclei
N-formyl-K Y N	N-formyl-kynurenine
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
PD	Parkinson's disease
PROB	probenecid
PIZ	pentylenetetrazole
QUIN	quinolinic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SC	sham-operated controls
TDO	tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase
TLE	temporal lobe epilepsy
TRP	L-trypthophan
4VO	4-vessel occlusion
	· ······ · · · ·

#### Summary

The kynurenine pathway is one of the metabolic routes by which the essential amino acid tryptophan can be catabolised, producing nicotinamide, a compound that is essential for normal physiological function. Metabolism through the kynurenine pathway yields several neuroactive intermediates, including L-kynurenine, which is formed in the mammalian brain (40%) and is taken up from the periphery (60%), indicating that it can be transported across the blood-brain barrier. It was discovered some 30 years ago that compounds in the kynurenine family have neuroactive properties. L-kynurenine, the central agent of this pathway, can be converted to two other important compounds: the neuroprotective kynurenic acid and the neurotoxic quinolinic acid.

Quinolinic acid is a neurotoxic agent, which can augment the overexcitation of excitatory amino acid receptors and can therefore cause neuronal damage. It has similar neurotoxic effects to those of glutamate in the neocortex, striatum and hippocampus. This glutamate mediated excitotoxic damage can cause abnormalities in cellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis, elevated production of reactive oxygen species, and induce lipid peroxidation. These processes of cell damage may be prevented by using another metabolite of this pathway kynurenic acid.

Kynurenic acid which is one of the few known endogenous broad-spectrum antagonist of excitatory amino acid receptors, especially the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors behaves as a neuroprotective agent: it can inhibit the overexcitation of these receptors by binding the glycine allosteric site. Moreover, kynurenic acid non-competitively blocks the activity of presynaptic  $\alpha$ 7-nicotinic acethylcholine receptors.

Kynurenines have been shown to be involved in many diverse physiological and pathological processes. There are a number of neurodegenerative disorders whose pathogenesis has been demonstrated to involve multiple imbalances of the kynurenine pathway metabolism. It is extremely important that the kynurenine pathway abnormality should be suitably prevented or corrected which could attenuate the pathological processes. Therapeutic use of kynurenic acid is difficult enough since it has a very limited ability to cross the blood-brain barrier. The aim is to develop different analogues and pro-drugs of kynurenic acid, which can readily cross the barrier and display similar effectiveness on the affected receptors to that of kynurenic acid. In our experiments, we examined the effects of a relatively high dose of Lkynurenine (300 mg/kg; i.p.), which leads to an elevated concentration of kynurenic acid in the brain. This effect was augmented by using probenecid (200 mg/kg; i.p.), which prevents the discharge of the organic acids from the cerebrospinal fluid. In our studies, we tested the neuroprotective effects of these treatments in animal models of epilepsy and transient global ischemia. To determine the neuroprotective effects, we investigated these drugs in electrophysiological, histological and behavioural experiments, too.

It is well known that kynurenic acid does not readily cross the blood-brain barrier; hence, its use as a neuroprotective agent is rather difficult. The Department of Physiology, Anatomy and Neuroscience and the Institute of Medical Chemistry at the University of Szeged have developed a new kynurenic acid analogue, glucoseamine conjugate of kynurenic acid, which readily crosses the blood-brain barrier, separate glucoseamine and kynurenic acid in the brain, and increase the kynurenic acid level in the central nervous system. In this study, we examined the effects of peripherally administered glucoseamine-kynurenic acid on hippocampal-evoked activity, in comparison with peripherally administered pure kynurenic acid. These drugs were administered alone, or in combination with probenecid.

Our results and the related literature indicate the importance of the normal function of the kynurenine pathway and the possibilities of neuroprotection with kynurenine derivatives. Elevated levels of kynurenic acid or its analogues in the brain may reduce the overexcitation of excitatory amino acid receptors and may modify or arrest the progression of various neurodegenerative disorders. This can offer a novel therapeutic opportunity where the development of these compounds promises a key for brain neuroprotection.

#### Introduction

L-tryptophan (TRP), one of the ten essential amino acids, is involved in protein synthesis and acts as a precursor of many biologically active substances. Besides its participation in the process of protein synthesis, in mammals TRP is metabolized in several pathways. The most commonly known is the serotonergic pathway, which is active in platelets and neurons, and yields 5-hydroxy-TRP and then serotonin. TRP is also the precursor of a pineal hormone, melatonin. A less well-known, but actually the main alternative route for the TRP metabolism, is through the kynurenine pathway (KP) (Fig. 1), a cascade of enzymatic steps involving a number of biologically active compounds. It is noticeable that 95% of the TRP is catabolised through the KP within the brain. The metabolites of the KP, collectively termed 'kynurenines', have been shown to take part in many diverse physiological and pathological processes. In particular, fluctuations in the levels of the kynurenines have discrete effects on the nervous and immune systems. Although a century has passed since the kynurenines were first recognized as major catabolic products of TRP, very little attention was paid to their possible involvement in biological processes until the 1980s.

The first KP metabolite of TRP, which was recognized as being neuroactive at the cellular level, was quinolinic acid (QUIN) (Fig.1). This compound depolarises neurons by activating N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors [1]. As a result, it is also able to produce excitotoxicity [2], and this realisation has led to QUIN being implicated in a variety of central nervous system (CNS) disorders (see [3-5]). By definition, excitotoxicity is a result of the overexcitation of glutamate receptors. The concentrations of QUIN causing cell damage do not need to be greatly elevated. The amounts of QUIN in the brain and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) are normally less than 100nM, but levels only slightly greater than this can cause neurotoxicity when cells are exposed for several hours [6, 7] or weeks [8] with some neurons being damaged after exposure to only 100nM QUIN [9]. QUIN takes part in lipid peroxidation and produces free radicals. It also affects mithochondrial function by decreasing superoxide dismutase activity [10].

The other important metabolite of KP is kynurenic acid (KYNA) (Fig.1), which is one of the few known endogenous broad-spectrum antagonists of excitatory amino acid (EAA) receptors, especially the NMDA receptors.



Fig. 1. Kynurenine pathway

KYNA behaves as a neuroprotective agent: it can inhibit the overexcitation of these receptors by binding the glycine allosteric site. It may therefore influence physiological and pathological processes, so it has therapeutic effects in numerous neurological disorders [4, 11, 12]. Furthermore, KYNA displays neuroinhibitory properties in neurophysiological experiments [13] and, like other glutamate receptor antagonists, can cause impairments in learning and behaviour [14]. KYNA can noncompetitively block the activity of presynaptic  $\alpha$ -7-nicotinic acetycholine ( $\alpha$ 7-nACh) receptors [15]. Crosstalk between KYNA and the nicotinic cholinergic system has been presumed to play role in the pathogenesis of numerous brain disorders, including Alzheimer's disease (AD) and schizophrenia, in which brain KYNA levels are elevated and the nicotinic functions are impaired [16].

The enzymatic machinery for the catabolism of TRP exists both in the brain and in the periphery, although it has a much higher capacity in the latter. TRP is converted by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1 (IDO1), or in the liver, the more specific enzyme, tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO), to N-formyl-kynurenine (N-formyl-KYN), which is further degraded by formamidase to L-kynurenine (L-KYN) (Fig. 1). IDO1 is expressed by a variety of cells and is induced preferentially by the Th1-type cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  [17-19]. Similarly to TDO, IDO1 catalyzes the first step in TRP degradation, specifically, the formation of N-formyl-KYN, which subsequently deformylates to give L-KYN. IFN- $\gamma$  is a potent stimulus for IDO1 both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. A third enzyme, indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase-2 (IDO2) recently has been described. The IDO-1 and IDO-2 proteins share significant identity at the amino acid level (43% for human and mouse proteins) but are not related structurally to the TDO protein. The IDO1 and IDO2 proteins are encoded on genes adjacent to each other, on chromosome 8 in humans and mice, suggesting that the genes arose via gene duplication. The discovery of IDO2 suggests that the KP of TRP metabolism is involved in more biological processes than previously thought [20].

L-KYN, a major component of the KP, serves as a source for the synthesis of all the other metabolites of the pathway. L-KYN is present in micromolar concentrations in the blood, brain and peripheral organs, and is transported through the blood-brain barrier (BBB) by the neutral amino acid carrier [21]. L-KYN is further metabolized in three distinct ways. It serves as a substrate for kynureninase, for kynurenine aminotransferases (KATs) and for kynurenine-3-hydroxylase yielding, respectively, anthranilic acid, KYNA and 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK).

In the mammalian brain, KYNA is produced irreversibly from L-KYN by the action of the KATs, which are able to catalyse the transamination of L-KYN *in vitro*. Since excitatory amino acid receptor activation takes place in a variety of pathological states, KYNA has been tested as a neuroprotective agent. Two distinct KATs (KAT I and KAT II) have been cloned and extensively studied [22, 23].

KAT I, also known as glutamine transaminase K or cysteine conjugate betalyase [24-26], is present in both astrocytes and neurons; its expression increases after birth, reaching a maximum specific enzyme activity in the brain of adult rats [27, 28]. The enzymatic activity of KAT I in the rat brain is optimum at alkaline pH [29]. However, purified human KAT I from Sf9 insect cells/baculovirus expression system exhibits high enzymatic activity under neutral conditions [30], suggesting that KAT I might be an important player in KYNA synthesis under physiological conditions. KAT II, also known as alpha-aminoadipate aminotransferase, was isolated by RT-PCR from the rat kidney [31] with the EST assembly from mouse and human [32, 33]; it is structurally homologous to aspartate aminotransferase in the pyridoxal 5'-phosphate binding domain. KAT II appears to play a more important role than KAT I in the rat brain in terms of its relative contribution towards the synthesis of KYNA in the cerebral tissue. Lesional and pharmacological studies have confirmed that in most brain regions KYNA originates primarily from KAT II activity [29]. Under physiological conditions, KAT I and KAT II are localized mainly in the astrocytes [34], but they are also present in human brain cells [35–37] and in most of the neurons in the medulla and spinal cord [38].

Yu *et al.* [39] recently discovered 'KAT III' as a novel member of the KAT family. Genomic structure analysis indicates that *kat3* and *kat1* share the same exonintron boundary, indicating that they belong in the same subfamily. 'KAT III' shares several features with KAT I, including a similar genomic structure, and a similar mRNA expression in multiple tissues, including the kidney, liver, heart, lung and neuroendocrine organs, but no enzyme activity has so far been associated with 'KAT III'.

The results of Guidetti *et al.* [40] suggested the existence of a third, quisqualatesensitive KAT ('KAT IV') in the brain and at the same time provided further support for the notion that KAT I plays only a minor role in cerebral KYNA formation in the rodent brain under physiological conditions. The enzyme was purified, characterized, and found to be identical with mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase (mitAAT). Mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase is clearly distinct from the above mentioned 'KAT III', which was recently isolated from mouse and human brain cDNA libraries and suggested to be a heretofore unrecognized KYNA-forming enzyme. In contrast, mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase is coded by a known gene, and the enzyme's biochemical characteristics as well as its role in cell biology are reasonably well understood. By catalyzing the formation of KYNA, mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase may be involved in a range of physiological and pathological processes associated with glutamatergic and nicotinergic function.

L-KYN is further metabolized to 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) by the kynurenine 3-hydroxylase present in the liver, placenta, spleen, kidney and brain [41], this conversion requiring nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) and molecular oxygen (Fig. 1). No important physiological function in the brain has so far

been assigned to 3-HK, but in primate lenses it acts as a major UV filter together with its glucoside derivative, L-KYN and 4-(2-amino-3-hydroxyphenyl)-4-oxobutanoic acid  $O-\beta-D-glucoside$ , and may be useful in protecting the retina from UV radiation [42].

Furthermore, it should be mentioned the synergetic effects of 3-HK and QUIN. Guidetti and Schwarcz [43] examined possible synergistic interactions between 3-HK and QUIN in the rat brain *in vivo*. Intrastriatal coinjection of these agents in low doses which caused no or minimal neurodegeneration on their own, resulted in substantial neuronal loss, determined both behaviourally and histologically. Their data indicate that an elevation of 3-HK levels constitutes a significant hazard in situations of excitotoxic injury.

3-HK is further metabolized by kynureninase, leading to 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HANA) formation. This is then converted by 3- hydroxyanthranilate 3,4dioxygenase (3-HAO) to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate-semialdehyde, an unstable compound, which is transformed non-enzymatically into QUIN. Examinations during recent years have revealed that the neurotoxic properties of QUIN involve at least four mechanisms. Guillemin et al. described them in a review [44]. 1) QUIN can activate the NMDA receptor in pathophysiological concentrations. 2) QUIN can inhibit glutamate uptake into the synaptic vesicle, leading to excessive microenvironment glutamate concentrations and neurotoxicity [45, 46]. 3) More recently, it has become clear that a major mechanism of QUIN neurotoxicity is taking place through lipid peroxidation [47, 48]. 4) Finally, QUIN can potentiate its own toxicity and that of other excitotoxins (e.g. NMDA and glutamate) in the context of energy depletion [49, 50]. These findings have led to the suggestion that there may be a link between endogenous excitotoxins and human neurodegenerative disorders, and the application of QUIN has been proposed as a model for certain neurodegenerative disorders [51-53]. 3-HAO has been shown to be present in the brain [54]; its activity is increased in various pathological states, e.g. in the striatum of Huntington's disease (HD) patients [55], in the gerbil hippocampus after global ischemia [56], and in epileptic rats [57].

Finally, QUIN is degraded by quinolinate phosphoribosyltransferase to nicotinic acid mononucleotid and then nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD), the end-products of the pathway. One of the main functions of the KP is to metabolise L-TRP into NAD, which is essential for cell survival. NAD participates in many biological processes such as the control of energy metabolism [58], DNA repair [59, 60] and transcription [61, 62].



**Fig. 2.** Dynamics of the cerebral & extracerebral KP metabolism. Broken arrows: brain entry/cellular uptake (red), release (blue). Solid arrows: enzymatic conversion (black), receptor agonist (red), receptor antagonist (blue).  $\alpha$ 7-nACh-R:  $\alpha$ 7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; 3-HANA: 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid; 3-HK: 3-hydroxykynurenine; L-KYN: L-kynurenine; L-TRP: L-tryptophan; NMDA-R: NMDA-receptor; QUIN: Ouinolinic acid [189].

In the brain, TRP catabolism occurs in the astrocytes and microglia [63-65], and also happens in neurons [36], though 60% of the brain L-KYN is contributed from the periphery [66]. The astrocytes produce mainly KYNA, and the microglia and infiltrating macrophages mainly QUIN [35, 67, 68]. The astrocytes have been demonstrated to metabolize the QUIN produced by the neighbouring microglia [35] (Fig. 2).

It should be noticed that TRP catabolism plays a key role in the regulation of the immune response. The KP is one of the major regulatory mechanisms of the immune response [69]. The immune system continuously modulates the balance between responsiveness to pathogens and tolerance to non-harmful antigens. The mechanism that mediate tolerance, are not well understood but recent findings have implicated TRP catabolism as one of many mechanisms involved. Two theories have been proposed to explain how TRP catabolism facilitates tolerance. One theory posits that TRP breakdown suppresses T cell proliferation by dramatically reducing the supply of this critical amino acid. The other theory postulates that the downstream metabolites of TRP catabolism act to suppress certain immune cells, probably by pro-apoptotic mechanisms. In this issue, there are a number of fine pieces of studies and reviews [for example: [69-72].

Changes in the absolute and relative concentrations of the compounds involved in the KYN pathway (in particular KYNA and QUIN) in the brain have been implicated in a great number of neurodegenerative disorders, for example, stroke, epilepsy, ischemia, AD, HD, Parkinson's disease (PD), multiple sclerosis (MS) and encephalopathies. Both agents are able to act on the NMDA-receptor complex and influence the glutamatergic transmission. Elucidation of the importance of the KP in the brain function has facilitated research relating to the alterations in the KP in various neurological disorders.

A number of extensive studies have been published on disorders associated with alterations in the KP [4, 11, 12, 73, 74] featuring recent results concerning various pathological states.

Hereinafter, we focused on epilepsy and ischemia from the above mentioned neurological disorders, because the accepted models of these two diseases were used in our works.

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological disorders affecting 0.5-2% of the world's population. It varies widely in type and severity of seizures and should not be considered as a single disorder. It is currently defined as 'a tendency to have unprovoked recurrent seizures'. Epilepsy can result from brain injury caused by head trauma, stroke or infection, but in 6 out of 10 people seizures have no known cause. Seizures are the result of excessive neuronal firing temporarily disrupting neuronal signalling. This aberrant brain activity is the result of a shift in the balance between excitation and inhibition created by ion channels. In this context, it has been hypothesized that seizures and epileptogenesis may be due to either over-activation of excitatory pathways, utilizing glutamate or other excitatory amino acids, and/or a lesser activity of inhibitory pathways utilizing y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and other inhibitory neurotransmitters [75-77]. Recent investigations in this field have focused on changes in the function of excitatory and inhibitory systems and morphological adaptive processes, including changes in the synaptic plasticity and growth of new inter-neuronal connections [78-80]. There is some evidence that brain amino acid concentrations may be altered in epilepsy [81, 82]. However, the relationship between changes in the local concentration of amino acids in different brain structures and seizures is not well recognized.

Oxidative stress in the CNS has been shown in several rodent models of experimental epilepsy, such as the amygdala kindling model [83], the kainic acid model

[84], the pentylenetetrazole (PTZ)-induced kindling model [84], and in acute PTZinduced seizures [85, 86]. Free radical generation can induce seizure activity by direct inactivation of glutamine synthase and glutamate decarboxylase, thereby permitting an abnormal build-up of excitatory (glutamate) and inhibitory GABA neurotransmitters [87, 88].

One of the most frequent and devastating forms of epilepsy involves the development of an epileptic focus in temporal lobe structures. Prolonged seizures (status epilepticus), induced in experimental models by kainic acid or pilocarpine are known to activate neuronal cell death mechanisms in temporal lobe structures similar to other neurodegenerative disorders. This neuronal cell death is also observed in human temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and is one of the most important aspects of epileptogenesis. Specifically in the hippocampus, the loss of CA1 and CA3 pyramidal neurons, with relative sparing of the granular neurons of the dentate gyrus and some types of interneurons, is the histopathological hallmark of Ammon's horn sclerosis. Probably the most important factor, preceding neuronal cell death after status epilepticus, is the increased level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) observed in various models of experimental epilepsy, such as after kainate-induced hippocampal damage, after pilocarpine treatment or in low Mg<sup>2+</sup>-induced epileptiform activity of brain slices and slice cultures. Mitochondrial respiratory chain complex I is very likely to be the most important source of production of these ROS [89].

PTZ, a chemical convulsant frequently utilized in the study of seizures [90, 91], exerts its effects by binding to the picrotoxin-binding site of the post-synaptic GABA-A receptor [92]. PTZ is known to suppress the inhibitory effects of certain neurotransmitters, and especially GABA, thereby leading to an easier depolarization of the neurons [93, 94]. PTZ may trigger a variety of biochemical processes including the activation of membrane phospholipases, proteases and nucleases. Marked alterations in membrane phospholipid metabolism result in the liberation of lipid peroxides and free radicals [95]. Similarly, Basra Deniz Obay *et. al* [96] found that acute PTZ-induced epileptic seizures lead to an increase in oxidative stress, an indicator of lipid peroxidation in erythrocytes, and liver and brain tissues.

In searching for new treatments for epilepsy, a key component is the identification of cellular mechanisms that will reduce neuronal hyperexcitability, ideally in a way that is specific to abnormal cells. Most drugs currently used in the treatment of epilepsy act through a limited number of molecular targets and mechanisms such as the

enhancement of GABA-ergic function or voltage-gated potassium channels, or the inhibition of voltage-gated sodium channels or calcium T-channels [97, 98]. Although the currently used drugs are effective in many individuals, the continued occurrence of seizures in a large proportion of patients suggests that agents with other mechanisms of action should be considered. Increasing information suggests that the pharmacology of epileptic systems may be quite different from that of normal brains, observations that suggests that the identification of new therapies should involve models that better represent the human condition.

Glutamate receptors, especially NMDA receptors, are logical targets for new antiepileptic compounds. Unfortunately, early attempts at attenuating the function of these receptors by using conventional NMDA-receptor antagonists revealed serious side effects [99]. For reasons that are not fully understood, these harmful consequences of direct NMDA-receptor blockade can be avoided by targeting the glycine co-agonist (glycine<sub>B</sub>) site on the receptor for seizure suppression [100, 101]. Since glutamatergic neurotransmission plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of epilepsy, therefore antagonists of glutamate receptors are powerful anticonvulsants. In line with this, L-KYN, KYNA and their synthetic analogues are generally efficacious anticonvulsants in a variety of models of experimental epilepsy [102-104]. Moreover, reduction of KYNA levels increases vulnerability to excitotoxic insults, whereas elevation of KYNA content has an opposite effect [105].

Stroke is the third major cause of death in the major industrialized countries after cardiovascular disease and cancer. The overall incidence of stroke is predicted to increase over the next decade by 12% but by around 20% in low-income families. More than 30% of the stroke survivors will have severe disability, and calculations suggest that over 50 million healthy life-years will be lost by 2015 [106]. Saver [107] undertook the task of calculating the impact a stroke has on nervous tissue. His calculations are sobering. Patients experiencing a typical large-vessel acute ischemic stroke will lose 120 million neurons, 830 billion synapses and 714 km of myelinated fibres each hour. Compared with the normal rate of neuron loss during aging, the ischemic brain will age 3.6 years for every hour the stroke goes untreated. The large majority (85%) of strokes in the western world are ischemic, that is, a stroke resulting from an occlusion of a major cerebral artery, commonly the middle cerebral artery (MCA) by a thrombus or embolism. The other strokes are hemorrhagic, where a blood vessel bursts either in the brain or on its surface. Ischemic brain injury results from a complex sequence of

pathophysiological events that evolve over time and space. The major pathogenetic mechanisms of this cascade include excitotoxicity, peri-infarct depolarization and inflammation leading to cell death by apoptosis and necrosis [108]. The main therapeutic approaches in patients with acute cerebral ischemia are thrombolysis and neuroprotection but none of them is really satisfying. Thrombolysis, which is aimed at restoring the cerebral blood flow, is restricted to few patients because of a narrow therapeutic window and a high hemorrhagic risk [109]. Over the last 25 years, neurochemists have provided a great deal of information on the chain of events that follows an ischemic episode (the so-called 'ischemic cascade'). Many compounds that act on one or more of these mechanisms have been developed and these compounds do indeed prevent ischemia-induced cell death in the brain of experimental animals. Because a pathological increase in glutamate was one of the early changes to be shown to occur after an episode of cerebral ischemia, many compounds interfering with glutamate function were developed during the late 1980s and early 1990s. These were predominantly NMDA receptor subtype antagonists, but some α-amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid (AMPA) receptor antagonists were investigated and also a glycine modulator site antagonist. A major problem with glutamate antagonism as a mechanism suitable for therapeutic intervention target is that pathological glutamate release is an event occurring very early in the ischemic cascade. This presumably makes it necessary to give such drugs very quickly after the ischemic insult, and rapid admission is often a major clinical problem [108, 110, 111]. However, other problems that also arose with some of these drugs included poor pharmacokinetics, poor brain penetration and a failure to protect subcortical structures.

In an animal model of transient global ischemia, the level of endogenous KYNA and the activity of its biosynthetic enzymes, KATI and KAT II, are not changed 24 and 72 h after the insult in CA1 hippocampal area [112]. It is in agreement with the results showing no change in KYNA content in the whole hippocampal structure following ischemic insult [56, 113]. The local production of KYNA might be relatively too low in order to prevent pathological changes. On the other hand, KYNA attenuates indeed the ischemic neuronal loss both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Peripherally administered KYNA protects hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons in a transient forebrain ischemia model in gerbils [114]. A recent study of Bari *et al.* [115] on newborn piglets demonstrated that: (1) when applied exogenously at superphysiological concentrations, neither KYNA nor QUIN is vasoactive in the pial vasculature; (2) NMDA- but not hypercapnia-induced

arteriolar dilation can be inhibited by exogenously applied KYNA; (3) KYNA attenuates kainate-dependent vasodilation in normoxic as well as in post-ischemic conditions; and (4) in vulnerable brain regions, they could not detect changes in tissue levels of KYNA and QUIN during the first few hours of reperfusion following global cerebral ischemia. However QUIN levels rose 50-fold over the course of 7 days following the induction of cerebral ischemia in gerbils, mimicking an ischemic stroke [116].

For the last two decades, many neuroprotective drugs gave interesting and promising results in animal models of pre-clinical studies, but the clinical trials performed with these drugs were disappointing and showed no beneficial effects in stroke patients (reviewed in [117, 118]). The possible reasons for the clinical trial failures include the morphological and functional differences between the brains of rodents and humans and the different designs of the preclinical studies and the clinical trials (therapeutic time window, drug-dosing schedule, efficacy assessment). Rodent brains and human brains have many anatomical and histological differences such as e.g. their proportion of white matter [119]. One of the hypotheses, which could explain the failure of neuroprotective trials in stroke patients is the anatomical and histological differences between human and rodent brains. In order to test this hypothesis, Dronne *et al.* [120] built a mathematical model representing the main early pathophysiological mechanisms involved in an ischemic stroke.

Another criticism of the current animal models is that they nearly utilize young healthy animals. In contrast, stroke patients are usually elderly, with a variety of other clinical problems such as hypertension, myocardial infarction and diabetes. Both Davis *et al.* [121] and Schaller [122] have examined older animals and data suggest that neuroprotective efficacy is reduced in these animals. The future of the research on the field of neuroprotection may, therefore depend on the development of better animal models.

The results of a human study [123] strongly support the view that an inflammatory response with increased signs of oxidative stress develops rapidly after a stroke. S100B is one of the most useful markers of brain injury following stroke and its levels rise immediately after stroke and correlate well with the volume of stroke infarct. The significance of this is unclear as, although S100B can protect neurons against acute insults including glutamate receptor activation and hypoglycaemia, it also has the ability to trigger the inflammatory response by activating microglia and macrophages. Thus,

S100B could be a significant factor in generating the inflammatory response to stroke. The results of Darlington *et. al* [123] raise the possibility of introducing some form of early anti-inflammatory intervention to modify the production of a factor such as S100B or the KYN metabolites to reduce the inflammatory response and limit delayed neurodegeneration. Inhibitors of the KP, already shown to reduce ischemic damage in experimental models of stroke and brain inflammation in cerebral malaria, could be useful for such intervention.

Transient global ischemia, which may arise during cardiac arrest and surgery in humans or be induced experimentally in animals, elicits selective, delayed neuronal death. If the ischemia is short, neuronal damage occurs only in vulnerable areas. The pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA1 region are particularly vulnerable [124-127]. Animal models of transient global ischemia, including bilateral carotid artery occlusion in Mongolian gerbils [128] and 4-vessel occlusion (4VO) in rats, have demonstrated significant neuronal necrosis in the CA1 region of the hippocampus and impairments in a variety of learning and memory tasks [128, 129]. Other neurons, such as the hippocampal CA3 neurons, are less ischemia-vulnerable [130, 131]. It is widely accepted that activation of the EAA receptors plays an important role in neuronal death in stroke [132]. It has recently been reported that glutamate-induced excitotoxicity and cellular calcium overload are among the key factors of cell death in brain ischemia, especially in the grey matter [133]. By definition, excitotoxicity is a result of overexcitation of the glutamate receptors. In turn, neuroprotective strategies have utilized antagonists of the glutamate receptors to prevent excitotoxic neuronal loss [134].

Long-term potentiation (LTP), also mediated by glutamate receptors is a model of neuronal plasticity [135]. Accordingly, ischemia may likewise impair physiological forms of synaptic plasticity, such as activity-dependent LTP [136]. What is more, global ischemia may induce a special form of plasticity, anoxic LTP [137, 138].

It is currently widely accepted that the neuronal damage which occurs as a result of a stroke is largely attributable not to the immediate hypoxia or ischemia itself, but to the massive release of glutamate from the neurons and glia [139]. Neuronal activity leads to the production of glutamate, which is then taken up, via by Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent glutamate transporters, and recycled by astrocytes [140]. Astrocytes convert glutamate either into glutamine or oxidize it via the tricarboxylic acid cycle [141], therefore, they are responsible for maintaining extracellular glutamate concentration. However, QUIN has been shown to inhibit the uptake of glutamate by astrocytes, thus disrupting the extracellular glutamate balance [46]. Moreover, QUIN has been reported to be able to selectively inhibit the uptake of glutamate into synaptic vesicles in the rat brain without interfering with the uptake of neurotransmitters GABA and glycine [45]. Glutamate activates at least three types of ionotropic receptors, which are sensitive, respectively, to NMDA, kainate and AMPA [142]. These can all increase the intracellular levels of Ca<sup>2+</sup> [143, 144], and lead ultimately to the generation of NO, ROS and hence to cell death [145]. A therapeutic objective in the pharmaceutical industry, therefore, is to develop agents, which block the activation of glutamate receptors.

Impairments of the KP are strongly involved in neuronal death in various disorders. Prevention or correction of the abnormality, which results from changes in the levels of L-KYN derivatives, could attenuate the pathological processes.

At the moment, there appear to be three different possibilities for the development of therapeutic agents with the aim of modulation of the KP (see recent reviews by [73, 74]). One strategy is to use L-KYN as a precursor of neuroprotective KYNA. L-KYN can cross the BBB and increase the level of KYNA in the CNS. The second approach is to develop different pro-drugs and analogues of KYNA that can easily cross the BBB and act on the glycine-binding site of the NMDA receptors. The third method is manipulation of the KP by administration compounds that block the metabolism of L-KYN  $\rightarrow$  QUIN conversion.

#### The following aims were set during our work on this topic:

To investigate

- whether L-KYN, which is able to cross easily the BBB by a neutral amino acid carrier and can be transformed into neuroprotective KYNA in the brain, can act against the acute PTZ-induced epileptic seizures?
- whether L-KYN administered intraperitoneally (i.p.) together with probenecid (PROB), (PROB is known to inhibit several transporters; among those are the multidrug resistance-associated proteins (MRPs), which act as organic anion transporters), can be more effective than L-KYN administered alone and whether they are able to protect against the neurotoxic effect of PTZ?

- whether systemic pre- or post-treatment with L-KYN (administered together with PROB; i.p.) decreases the delayed cortical and hippocampal neuronal damage in rats subjected to transient global ischemia (4VO model)?
- whether our newly synthetized KYNA analogue glucoseamine-KYNA (G-KYNA) can readily pass into the brain after systemic administration (alone or together with PROB; i.p.) and can be more effective than KYNA?

#### Materials and methods

#### 1. Animals

Our studies were performed on adult male Wistar rats (n=235, 250-300g) maintained under controlled environmental conditions at a temperature of  $22\pm2$  °C and 12-h light/dark cycle. Food and water were available *ad libitum*. Every effort was made to minimize animal suffering. The principles of laboratory animal care (NIH publication No. 85-23), and the protocol for animal care approved by the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC) were followed. In the *in vivo* electrophysiological experiments the summarized number of animals was 107, while 18 rats were used in *in vitro* electrophysiology. The number of animals starting the behavioural tests was n = 50. In the histological evaluation the summarized number of rats was 50, while 10 animals were used in the HPLC-MS/MS analysis.

#### 2. Drugs

L-KYN (300 mg/kg; i.p.), PROB (200 mg/kg; i.p.), PTZ (60 mg/kg i.p.) and KYNA (17 µmol/kg) were obtained from Sigma (Steinheim, Germany), while our new compound G-KYNA (17 µmol/kg) (Fig. 3) was synthetized in the Institute of Medical Chemistry, University of Szeged. L-KYN, KYNA, G-KYNA and PROB was dissolved in 0.1 M sodium hydroxide (1ml) and adjusted with 1 M sodium hydroxide to pH 7.4.



Fig. 3. The chemical structure of G-KYNA

#### 3. Animal models and methods

#### 3.1. Acute PTZ-induced seizures

PTZ is often used experimentally to induce seizures which mimic generalized clonic seizures in humans [146]. The dose of PTZ was chosen on the basis of a previous study of Jiang *et al.* [147]. The PTZ treated animals received a single PTZ injection at a convulsive dose of 60 mg/kg. The drug was given i.p. in a volume of 1ml saline. There is a five point scale in the literature to investigate the intensity of convulsions: 0, no response; 1, ear and facial twitching; 2, myoclonic jerks without rearing; 3, myoclonic jerks with rearing; 4, turn over into side position, clonic-tonic seizures; 5, turn over into back position, generalized tonic-clonic convulsions [148].

#### 3.1.1. In vivo electrophysiology

Surgical procedure: Animals (n=56) were anaesthetized with urethane (1.3 g/kg,i.p.). In some cases, the tail vein of the animals was catheterized. In most of the experiments, the drugs were administered i.p., through a syringe implanted at the beginning of the experiments. For recordings in area CA1, a 2-3 mm diameter hole was drilled over the dorsal hippocampus (3.0-3.8 mm posterior and 1.8-2.3 mm lateral to the sagittal suture) and the recording electrode was lowered 3.3 mm from the cortical surface. Contralaterally, a 1-2 mm hole was drilled for the CA3 stimulating electrode (3.7 mm posterior to the bregma, and 3.3 mm lateral to the sagittal suture: final electrode depth 3.8 mm below the dura). Electrodes were lowered and final positions were adjusted so that the maximum CA1 population spike was obtained in response to contralateral CA3 stimulation (Fig. 4). The sites in area CA1 and CA3 were confirmed histologically. Responses to a range of stimulus intensities were recorded under control conditions to produce an input-output curve by changing the duration (10-100 µs), using current (up to 200 µA) square pulses. Stimuli were triggered at low frequency (0.05 Hz). Response stability was monitored for 30 min prior to drug administration. The electrophysilological recording continued during the following 3h recording period after drug administration.



**Fig. 4.** Population spike recorded in the CA1 area of the rat hippocampus. **a**: minimum point, **b**: maximum point of the response. **b**-**a**= amplitude of the population spike.

*Drug administration:* The doses of L-KYN and PROB that were chosen were based on earlier work [149, 150]. In pilot experiments, to examine the effects of pure L-KYN or PTZ or PROB, the animals (n=31) were treated with varying doses of these compounds, e.g. L-KYN was administered either i.v. or i.p. in doses of 5, 10, 50, 100, 200, 300 or 400 mg/kg. Since i.p. and i.v. administration resulted in similar effects, i.p. administration was chosen in further studies, because it was more appropriate in the behavioural experiments. On the basis of the literature data (cited above) and our pilot experiments on the dose-dependent effects of these compounds, throughout the main

studies L-KYN was administered in a dose of 300 mg/kg, PROB in a dose of 200 mg/kg, and PTZ in a dose of 60 mg/kg. After the pilot experiments in which the effects of the pure drugs were observed, we studied whether L-KYN + PROB inhibited the effects of PTZ. In these electrophysiological studies, the responses of area CA1 pyramidal cells to contralateral CA3 stimulation were tested for a 30-min control period. L-KYN and PROB administration followed. During the next 2 h, the low-frequency stimulation continued without recording, and PTZ was then administered. The electrophysiological effect was followed during a 3-h recording period (Fig. 5A.)

#### 3.1.2. Behavioural studies

#### 3.1.2.1. Water-maze task

The rats were trained in a large circular swimming pool (160 cm in diameter, 60 cm high) filled with water to a depth of 35 cm. The water was at room temperature and was made opaque by the addition of 2 1 milk. The pool was situated in a small rectangular room. The walls were equipped with a variety of spatial cues (pictures and a lamp emitting diffuse light), which remained unchanged during the experiment. The pool was divided into four quadrants, and a removable platform (8 cm diameter) was hidden at one of four positions in the pool, exactly 25 cm from the sidewall. The platform was 1.0 cm below the water surface and not visible to the swimming rat (Fig. 6A,B). The animals performed a block of four consecutive trials, all beginning at a fixed starting point (N, W, S or E). Trials ended either when the platform was found or when 60 s had elapsed. If the rats did not find the platform within 60 s, they were guided to it and left there for 15 s. They were then removed from the pool and either placed back after 15 s (intertrial interval) for the subsequent trial or returned to their home cages after being dried with a towel. The 5-day training consisted of one block of four trials per day, and for each trial the starting point varied in a random order such that no location recurred for a given day. Each trial was recorded and analyzed by using a computer video tracking system. The video camera of the Ethovision System (Noldus) was mounted above the centre of the pool. The animal movements were monitored, timed and processed by the software (Etho Vision 2.0) (Fig. 6C). The sequence of drug administration in the behavioural experiments was similar to the in vivo electrophysiology: L-KYN (300 mg/kg i.p.) and PROB (200 mg/kg i.p.) administration preceded the PTZ injection (60 mg/kg i.p.) by 2 h. The water-maze studies were carried out 20 min after the PTZ injection (Fig. 5B).



Fig. 5. Schedule of the experiments. (A) Time scale for the electrophysiological experiments. Control population spikes were evoked throughout 30 min. St, stimulation; R, recording. L-KYN and PROB were injected i.p. PTZ injection followed 2 h later. Evoked spike activity was recorded for 3 h following the second injection. (B) Time scale for the behavioural observations. The animals in the five groups were injected twice, with a 2-h period between the injections. The water-maze task followed 20 min after the second injection. Before and after the injections, general observations were carried out. The observations in the open-field arena were carried out on another day.

#### 3.1.2.2. Open-field observations

This behavioural test was carried out in a circular arena (80 cm in diameter); the height of the wall was 40 cm. Following administration of the compounds, the animals were observed for 5 min (Fig. 6D). The stereotyped behaviour was characterized by the total time spent in grooming and washing. Several parameters were monitored: rearing, stereotyped washing, defecation, time (s) to the onset of grandmal seizures, and the time (min) of death. In the course of the behavioural experiments, with daily PTZ administration, the cumulative number of dead animals was also registered.



**Fig. 6.** (A,B) Photographs of the circular swimming pool in water-maze task. (C) Single subject tracking (water-maze task) with the Ethovision System (Noldus). (D) Photograph of the open-field arena.

#### 3.2. Four-vessel occlusion (4VO) model of transient global ischemia

4VO was carried out as described previously [151]. In brief, the rats were anaesthetized with Nembutal (CEVA-PHYLAXIA; 60 mg/kg, i.p.). Both vertebral arteries were occluded by cauterization during careful cooling with iced washing. The

wound were then closed, and the animals were allowed to recover for 24 h. On the following day, they were subjected to a 10-min forebrain ischemia by bilateral occlusion of the carotid arteries with atraumatic clips under ether anaesthesia (Fig. 7). The body temperature was monitored, and maintained at 37 °C during the surgical procedures, using a thermostatically controlled heating pad. Both vertebral arteries were cauterised, and both common carotid arteries were exposed, but not occluded in the sham-operated animals.



Fig. 7. Surgical procedure of 4VO model of transient global ischemia.

The rats used for cortical histology were divided into 5 groups: the group of control animals (n=5), which contain intact controls (IC) and sham-operated controls (SC); the 4VO group (4VO, n=7), the L-KYN + PROB pre-treated animals (L-KYN+PROB-4VO, n=6) and the L-KYN + PROB post-treated animals (4VO-L-KYN+PROB, n=7).

The rats used for hippocampal histology were divided into 4 groups: SC group (n=5), 4VO group (n=7), L-KYN+PROB-4VO group (n=6) and 4VO-L-KYN+PROB goup (n=7).

The rats used for *in vitro* electrophysiology were divided into 3 groups: SC group (n=6), 4VO group (n=6) and L-KYN+PROB-4VO group (n=6).

*Drug administration:* L-KYN (300 mg/kg, i.p.) and PROB (200 mg/kg, i.p.) were administered daily for 5 days: in the pre-treated group, the first L-KYN+PROB administration preceded the 10-min carotid occlusion by 2 h; and the animals were treated at the same time on the next 4 days. In the post-treated group, the animals received the first L-KYN+PROB injection at the start of reperfusion. The remaining 4 injections were given at the same time on the next 4 days.

#### 3.2.1 Histological evaluation

Ten days after 4VO, the rats were anaesthetized with urethane (1.3 g/kg, i.p.), and perfused transcardially with 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline, and then with 4% paraformaldehyde. The literature reports a considerable range of reperfusion times on transient global ischemia [152-154]; our procedure was selected on the basis of these data. The brains were removed from the cranium, post-fixed in formalin, cryopreserved in 20% sucrose (containing 0.05% Na-azide), and sectioned at 32  $\mu$ m with a cryostat microtome. Serial sections were collected in a cryopreservative solution for storage.

The series of sections were stained for degenerating neurons with Fluoro Jade  $B^{\text{(B)}}$  (FJ, Chemicon Int.). Six sections were mounted from all animals in each group. A standard protocol was followed in our experiments. For the detailed steps of FJ staining, see [155].

NeuN (anti-neuronal nuclei), a neuronal specific nuclear protein was used for immunohistochemical detection of surviving pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus. NeuN antibody labels nuclei and cytoplasm of most neuronal cell types in all regions of the adult brain including cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, etc. For the detailed steps of NeuN immunohistochemistry, see [156].

The locations of FJ-B positive (FJ<sup>+</sup>) cells were observed with a fluorescence microscope (Olympus BX-51, Tokyo, Japan) with an excitation wavelength of 470-490 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm. The NeuN labelling was observed under a fluorescence microscope at an excitation wavelength of 530-550 nm, and an emission wavelength of 590 nm. Fluorescence photomicrographs were obtained with an Olympus DP70 (Tokyo, Japan) digital imaging system.

The global ischemia induced damage in both hemispheres, but in each case, the hemisphere with the greater extent of injury was evaluated. In case of cortical evaluation, the number of  $FJ^+$  neurons/mm<sup>2</sup> was determined in each slide of each animal in the respective group. A section was viewed and the injured neurons were counted at 4x magnification. In case of hippocampal evaluation, a section was viewed at 4x magnification and the most dorsal part of CA1 was chosen. Then, at 20x magnification, the image was captured with a 12-megapixel Olympus (DP-70) digital camera. With the aid of home-made software, the damaged regions were encountered and these areas were determined. The labelled cells were then counted manually by a person not involved in the experiments, and who knew nothing about the experimental groups. The

labelled cells were calculated for  $1 \text{ mm}^2$ . The numbers of  $\text{FJ}^+$  and NeuN-immunopositive neurons/mm<sup>2</sup> were determined in each slide of all animals.

#### 3.2.2. In vitro electrophysiology

The electrophysiological recordings were conducted 10 days after 4VO. The rats (n=3x6) were decapitated, and coronal slices (400  $\mu$ m) were prepared from the middle part of their hippocampi with a vibratome (Campden Instruments, Serial No: 752-903, UK) in an ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid solution (ACSF) composed of (in mM): 130 NaCl, 3.5 KCl, 1 NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 24 NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 1 CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 3 MgSO<sub>4</sub>, and 10 <sub>D</sub>-glucose, saturated with 95% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The slices were then transferred into a Haas-type recording chamber and incubated at room temperature for 1 h to allow the slices to recover in the solution used for recording (differing only in that it contained 3 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1.5 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>). The flow rate was 1.5-2 ml/min and the experiments were performed at 34 °C. The stimulating electrode (a bipolar glass electrode pulled from a theta capillary) was placed in the stratum radiatum near the border between the CA1 and CA2 regions to perform orthodromic stimulation of the Schaffer collateral/commissural pathway (Accupulser A310 [WPI Inc., USA]; constant current, 0.2-ms pulses delivered at 0.033 Hz).

Field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) were recorded in parallel from the stratum radiatum and stratum pyramidale with two 1-2-MOhm resistance glass microelectrodes that were filled with ACSF and connected to a neutralized, high-inputimpedance pre-amplifier (100x gain) with a high-pass filter set at 5 kHz. A homemade amplifier was used; the sampling rate was 10 kHz. The test stimulus intensity was adjusted to between 30 and 60 µA to evoke approximately 50% of a minimal stimulus intensity that evoked a saturated fEPSP (maximal fEPSP response) in SC rats. The fEPSPs were digitized, saved via a PC equipped with a Digidata 1200 interface and an Axoscope 10.0 recording system (Molecular Devices Corporation, Sunnyvale, CA, USA), and analyzed off-line with Origin 6.0 (OriginLab Corporation, Northampton, MA, USA).

LTP of the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synaptic response was induced by highfrequency stimulation (HFS; 0.2-ms pulses delivered at 100 Hz for 6 s) at 100% intensity of the test stimulus, and after HFS the fEPSPs were recorded for further period of at least 60 min. Input-output (IO) curves were created to measure the basal glutamatergic synaptic function. Slices from the same animal were generally used for both tests, including LTP and IO curves. Two slices were tested from each rat, and each slice was subjected to only one particular test.

# 3.2.3. HPLC-MS/MS analysis of L-KYN and KYNA levels in the plasma and brain tissue

The vertebral arteries were occluded 24 h before treatments with vehicle or L-KYN + PROB. Two hours later the rats were anaesthetized with pentobarbital (60 mg/kg, i.p.). No bilateral carotid artery occlusion was performed. Blood was taken from the aorta, and centrifuged by a Heraeus Megafuge 1.0 R centrifuge (Kendro Laboratory Products GmbH, Osterode, Germany) for 10 min (RCF: 1625 x g). After decapitation tissue samples were obtained from the hippocampus and cerebral cortex, and weighed. The plasma and brain tissue was stored at about -70 °C until analysis. For the detailed steps of HPLC-MS/MS analysis, see [156].

#### 3.3. Comparative in vivo electrophysiological examination of KYNA and G-KYNA

In these experiments, we studied the effects of peripherally administered G-KYNA on the hippocampal evoked activity, in comparison with peripherally administered pure KYNA. These drugs were administered alone, or in combination with PROB (200 mg/kg, i.p.). Two times 15 animals were used to study the effects of KYNA and G-KYNA. The effects of PROB were studied on 3 animals while two times 6 animals were used in the experiments with KYNA+PROB and G-KYNA+PROB. Studies on the changes in blood pressure were carried out on 6 animals. The doses of KYNA and G-KYNA that were chosen were based on earlier pilot experiments, in which both KYNA and G-KYNA were administered i.v. or i.p., in doses of 17, 34, 68 or 136  $\mu$ mol/kg. Since i.p. and i.v. administration resulted in similar effects, i.p. administration was chosen in further studies. We endeavoured to find the minimum doses that were still effective; accordingly, on the basis of these pilot experiments, both KYNA and G-KYNA were administered in a dose of 17  $\mu$ mol/kg throughout the main study.

#### 4. Statistical analysis

Antidromic population spikes evoked by CA3 stimulation were measured from peak to peak (see [157], and Fig. 4). Differences between the amplitudes were determined statistically (paired *t*-test, *p* value set at 0.05 for significance). The results of behavioural experiments are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviation (S.D.). Statistical analysis was performed by using the unpaired Student *t*-test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by LSD post-hoc test. Neuronal cell counts are presented as means  $\pm$  standard error of mean (S.E.M.), and were analyzed by using one-way ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons with SPSS version 9.0 for Windows software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). A *p* value of  $\leq 0.05$  was considered significant. A nonparametric test on two independent samples was chosen for *in vitro* electrophysiological data (Mann-Whitney *U*-test).

#### Results

#### 1. Acute PTZ-induced seizures

#### 1.1. In vivo electrophysiology

In these experiments we examined whether pharmacological manipulations that lead to increased brain concentrations of KYNA could have any effects on the hippocampal electrical activity, and whether they have any antiepileptic effects. We decided to focus on the hippocampus, and on the question of whether co-administration of L-KYN together with PROB enhances the effects of L-KYN. Accordingly, recordings were made *in vivo* and both behaviour and seizure susceptibility were examined, resulting in a more thorough study of the hippocampal function than if either of these features was studied alone. The evoked responses of hippocampal neurons were chosen as an end-point for these electrophysiological experiments because of the high concentrations of glutamate receptors on the dendrites of these neurons, and because they receive glutamatergic afferents that can be stimulated preferentially *in vivo*.

#### 1.1.1. Effects of L-KYN

The responses of the area CA1 pyramidal cells to contralateral CA3 stimulation were tested before and after the injection of L-KYN. In pilot experiments, L-KYN was administered in doses of 5, 10, 50, 100, 200, 300 or 400 mg/kg, either i.v. or i.p. In >10 mg/kg doses, L-KYN induced some changes in the population spike amplitudes in all cases. This occurred regardless of the mode of application, i.e. after both i.v. and i.p. injection. However, the effects were controversial: in some experiments the systemically administered L-KYN resulted in a transient facilitation of the population spike amplitudes, while in other cases the same dose of L-KYN, administered in the same way, transiently decreased the amplitudes of the population spikes. However, these changes in amplitude very seldom reached the level of significance (Fig. 8A). Similarly controversial results were observed in all experiments when L-KYN was injected in higher doses, either i.v. or i.p. These results were case-dependent. To summarize the data of all those experiments in which 300 mg/kg L-KYN was administered, it can be stated that L-KYN did not significantly change the amplitude of the evoked responses of the area CA1 pyramidal cells (Table 1).

#### 1.1.2. Effects of PROB

PROB administered in a dose of 200 mg/kg did not cause an immediate significant change in the amplitude of the evoked population spike activity. In most cases, it resulted in a decrease in amplitude, but it needed a longer latency to develop



(Fig. 8B). The overall data for all the animals in this group indicate a moderate and not significant inhibitory effect of PROB on the CA1 pyramidal cell responses, with a long delay (Table 1).

**Fig. 8.** Examples of the effects of the administered compounds on the population spike amplitudes recorded in CA1. (A) After L-KYN injection, hardly any marked, significant change in amplitude was observed. (B) PROB resulted in decreased CA1 population spikes with 2-h delay. (C) After transient increase, L-KYN+PROB i.p. injection resulted in a rapid and significant decrease in amplitude. Examples of the effects of PTZ (D) and L-KYN+PROB+PTZ (E) on population spikes recorded in the pyramidal layer of area CA1 of rats. Ordinate: Spike amplitudes as percentages of the controls (C). Abscissa: Time in min after drug injection. Each column represents the mean±S.D. for 5 potentials. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01.

#### 1.1.3. Effects of L-KYN+PROB

The results were quite different when L-KYN was administered together with PROB. In all those cases when L-KYN (300 mg/kg) and PROB (200 mg/kg) were administered together, a significant change in amplitude of the population spikes

occurred within 5-10 min. In some cases, a short, slight and transient increase in amplitude was observed after application of the drugs, but this was followed by a significant decrease in amplitude in all cases (Fig. 8C). In most cases, only the characteristic decrease in amplitude could be detected, as shown by the summarizing data for all the animals in this group (Table 1).

#### 1.1.4. Effects of PTZ

PTZ in a dose of 60 mg/kg induced a significant increase in amplitude of the contralateral CA3 stimulation-induced CA1 responses in all experiments. The increase in amplitude started just after the drug administration, reached its plateau within 10 min, and remained at the elevated level during the 3-h registration period (Fig. 8D. and Table 1). In one of five PTZ-treated animals, the amplitude increased to over 200% of the control (Fig. 8D), while in the other four animals, the increment changed by 15-50% of the control amplitude. Besides the electrophysiological observation, in most of PTZ-treated animals, temporal trembling of the whiskers could also be observed. The administration of PTZ in a dose of 60 mg/kg never resulted in the death of the anaesthetized animals.

#### 1.1.5. Effects of L-KYN+PROB+PTZ

It was reported above that PTZ in a dose of 60 mg/kg induced an immediate and significant increase in amplitude of the CA1 responses in all of the experiments. This PTZ-induced increase in amplitude was completely blocked in those animals in which L-KYN+PROB administration preceded the injection of PTZ (Fig. 8E). The data obtained from those five PTZ-treated animals, which received L-KYN+PROB prior to the PTZ administration clearly demonstrate that L-KYN+PROB did not allow development of the amplitude increase following PTZ administration (Table 1).

	С	Minutes						
		10	30	60	90	120	150	180
KYN	100	$95.70 \pm 6.1$	$98.63 \pm 12.6$	$85.73 \pm 16.5$	$87.91 \pm 15.5$	$89.17 \pm 19.2$	$82.76 \pm 13.9$	$90.74 \pm 19.6$
PROB	100	$86.72 \pm 22.1$	$99.71 \pm 11.8$	$98.24 \pm 5.9$	$98.43 \pm 10.9$	$84.79 \pm 16.5$	$74.90 \pm 22.9$	$68.56 \pm 23.2$
KYN + PROB	100	$95.59 \pm 17.1$	$88.67 \pm 5.2^{**}$	$82.82 \pm 7.9^{**}$	$72.98 \pm 9.1^{**}$	$72.26 \pm 10.0^{**}$	$72.85 \pm 19.4^{*}$	$65.22 \pm 15.9^{**}$
PTZ	100	$125.9 \pm 10.4^{*}$	$124.59 \pm 13.7^*$	$112.23 \pm 4.1^{**}$	$116.69 \pm 1.4^{**}$	$112.55 \pm 6.3^{*}$	$116.23 \pm 1.9^{**}$	$116.5 \pm 7.8^{*}$
KYN + PROB +PTZ	100	93.11 ± 15.7	$90.42 \pm 16.9$	$82.74 \pm 18.7$	87.46 ± 17.3	83.81 ± 15.7	$80.20 \pm 12.5^{**}$	$88.43 \pm 11.9$

**Table 1.** The summarizing data on the effects of L-KYN, PROB, L-KYN+PROB, PTZ, and L-KYN+PROB+PTZ pre-treatment with a PTZ injection 2 h later on the amplitudes of the population spikes recorded in the pyramidal layer of the CA1 region of the hippocampus. C: Normalized amplitudes of responses before the drug injection (100%). Amplitudes (means±S.D.) 10, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150 and 180 min after the second injection. L-KYN+PROB injections resulted in a significant decrease in spikes amplitude. This reduction in amplitude (inhibition) after L-KYN+PROB pre-treatment was strong enough to hold the amplitudes below the control level (100%) even after PTZ injection, which itself resulted in a significant increase in amplitude when it was injected alone.

#### **1.2.** Behavioural experiments

In parallel with the electrophysiological experiments, behavioural studies were carried out on five other groups of animals: *group 1* (controls, injected with saline), *group 2* (injected with PTZ), *group 3* (injected with L-KYN), *group 4* (injected with L-KYN+PROB) and *group 5* (injected with L-KYN+PROB, and 2 h later with PTZ). The behavioural experiments were carried out on five successive days.

#### 1.2.1. General observations

The animals in group 1 did not display any unusual behaviour. Initially, they were afraid of the saline i.p. injection (two injections, with a 2-h delay), but later they became used to it. The animals in group 3, 4 and 5 (L-KYN, L-KYN+PROB, and L-KYN+PROB and 2 h later PTZ) became calm and slowed down after the first injection. On receiving the second injection of PTZ in group 5, however, these animals did not exhibit the development of any seizures in the course of the 5-day experiment. Instead of seizures, they mimicked hiccup after the PTZ injection. The animals in group 2 were injected with PTZ on each day. After PTZ treatment, the rats exhibited brief myoclonic jerks of their fore-and hind-limbs with a very rapid onset (60-70 s). The animals repeatedly fell down on their side or back, with generalized clonic seizures, which lasted for about 8-10 s. Such myoclonic jerks with the subsequent development of clonic seizures occurred several times. The daily repeated injection of the convulsant resulted in seizures with increasing intensity: 4-5 on the 6-point scale [158]. Further, the animals died in the course of the 5-day experiment, whereas mortality was very limited in group 5, where the animals received L-KYN+PROB prior to the PTZ injection (Fig. 9).



**Fig. 9.** Cumulative number of dead animals in the groups of controls, PTZ-treated and L-KYN+PROBpre-treated, then PTZ-injected animals, during the 5-day experiments. Chronically administered PTZ resulted in the death of all the animals in the PTZ-treated group during 5 days. Except for two animals, L-KYN+PROB pre-treatment protected the rats from death induced by the repeated PTZ injections.

#### 1.2.2. Water-maze performance

All five groups of animals started to take part in the water-maze experiments, which began 20 min after the second injection. From the very beginning, the performance throughout the 5 days revealed that the L-KYN+PROB+PTZ-treated animals needed more time to reach the platform than did the controls. This tendency became marked from the sessions on day 2 and the difference then remained significant up to the end of the experiment. This tendency became marked from the sessions on day 2 and the difference then remained significant up to the end of the experiment  $(F_2=27.337, p_2<0.01; F_3=26.768, p_3<0.01; F_4=28.180, p_4<0.01; F_5=34.652, p_5<0.01).$ The swimming strategies of the L-KYN+PROB+PTZ-treated animals and those in the other groups were not the same: the rats in group 5 spent more time swimming round the pool, near the wall, and demonstrated a poor performance throughout the 5-day trial. In contrast, the control animals displayed good progress in finding the hidden platform. Similarly, the animals in groups 3 and 4 exhibited a good performance in the watermaze study (Fig. 10). The PTZ-treated animals in group 2 also started to reveal a good performance in the water-maze experiments; however, because of the seizures and their high mortality rate, their testing was interrupted on day 3 ( $p_2 < 0.01$ ;  $p_3 < 0.05$ ).



**Fig. 10.** Performance of five groups of animals in the water-maze test during the 5-day period (4 trials/day). The escape latency at 100% (=mean of the controls) is 47s. The number of PTZ-treated animals fell to 2 by day 4; the evaluation of this group was interrupted. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. n=10 in controls, in L-KYN and L-KYN+PROB groups; n=10 on days 1-4, and n=9 on day 5 in the L-KYN+PROB+PTZ-treated animals. n=6 on day 1, n=4 on day 2, and n=3 on day 3 in the PTZ-treated group. Remark: on day 3, p<0.01 (control vs. L-KYN+PROB+PTZ) and p<0.05 (control vs. PTZ).

#### 1.2.3. Open-field observations

As detailed above, the animals which received a pure PTZ injection developed seizures, culminating in generalized tonic-clonic activity. Therefore, these animals (group 2) did not take part in the open-field experiment in the arena. The animals in groups 1, 3, 4 and 5 did not display any significant difference between staying in the

centre or at the periphery of the arena. The animals in all groups preferred to stay at the periphery of the arena (Fig. 11A). Differences were observed, however, in rearing, in stereotyped washing (Fig. 11B,C) and in defecation activity between the controls (group 1) and the treated animals in groups 3, 4 and 5, but the differences in defecation activity were not significant (Fig 11D).



**Fig. 11.** Observations in an open-field arena. (A) Time (s) spent in the centre and at the periphery of the arena. No difference was found between the control and treated groups. The rats in all four groups preferred to stay at the periphery of the arena. (B) Time spent in rearing during the 5-min observation period. The animals after L-KYN or L-KYN+PROB injection became calm, and slowed down. These changes were significant. (C) The number of washings during the 5-min observation decreased significantly only in group 5 (L-KYN+PROB+PTZ). (D) Number of feces produced during the 5-min period. Data are shown as means±S.D. (n=10 animals), \*\* p<0.01.

#### 2. 4VO model of transient global ischemia

#### 2.1. Neuroprotective effects of L-KYN+PROB-treatments on cortical rat brain slices

One day after bilateral vertebral artery cauterization, both carotid arteries were occluded for 10 min. This intervention induced severe neuronal damage in large parts of the neocortex in both hemispheres. The neuronal damage was localized to the temporolateral part of the cortex, starting at -3.14, -3.30 mm from the bregma, and reached its maximum at -3.8, -4.30 mm (Fig. 12). The cortical areas with the maximum number of injured neurons (-3.8 mm to the bregma) involved the primary and secondary auditory cortices, the ectorhinal cortex, the perirhinal cortex and the lateral entorhinal cortex, but the maximum was observed in the temporal association cortex. In this region, the FJ<sup>+</sup> neurons were found in a 500-700-µm-wide band involving cortical layers III-V (Fig. 13A,B).

L-KYN (300 mg/kg, i.p.) administered together with PROB (200 mg/kg, i.p.) caused a marked reduction in the number of damaged neurons. In the L-KYN-pre-treated animals, only a few groups of injured neurons could be observed in the cortical areas, whereas a great number of  $FJ^+$  (damaged) neurons were present in the cortical area of the 4VO animals treated with vehicle (Fig. 13C,D vs. Fig. 13A,B).



**Fig. 12.** The localisation of  $FJ^+$  neurons in the cortex of 4VO animals (a representative example in each group). The cortical damage is maximum at 3.8 mm behind the bregma.



**Fig. 13.**  $FJ^+$  cells in the cortex. Ten days after 4VO, injured neurons were detected in the extended lateral part of the hemispheres. The injured neurons attained their maximum number at 3.8 mm behind the bregma, in the ventral area of the secondary auditory cortex and in the temporal association cortex (A,B). L-KYN+PROB pre-treatment significantly reduced the number of  $FJ^+$  cells. Only sporadic groups of  $FJ^+$  cells could be found in the cortex of L-KYN+PROB-4VO animals (C,D). AuD: secondary auditory cortex dorsal area, Au1: primary auditory cortex, AuV: secondary auditory cortex ventral area, TeA: temporal association cortex, Ect: ectorhinal cortex, PRh: perirhinal cortex, Lent: lateral entorhinal cortex.

The statistical evaluation revealed that L-KYN administration considerably decreased the number of injured neurons. In the 4VO animals, the number of injured neurons/mm<sup>2</sup> was >200, while in the pre-treated group it was only 55-60 neurons/mm<sup>2</sup>. The decrease in the number of injured neurons was highly significant not only in the pre-treated group, but also in the group treated with L-KYN after reperfusion (Fig. 14).



**Fig. 14.** Numbers of injured neurons per mm<sup>2</sup> in the five groups of animals. The 4VO-induced increase in the number of injured cells was significantly reduced in those animals which received L-KYN+PROB either before (L-KYN+PROB-4VO) or after (4VO-L-KYN+PROB) ischemia induction. The neuroprotection was most effective in the L-KYN+PROB-4VO group; a smaller, but significant reduction was achieved in those animals which received protective L-KYN as post-treatment (4VO-L-KYN+PROB). Values are means±S.E.M. (*n*=6-7 rats/group). \*\* *p*<0.01; \*\*\* *p*<0.001 compared to the group indicated in the Figure (one-way ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni test).

The KYNA concentration in the CSF of the rats lay in the range 7-196 nM; in most cases it was 20-30 nM. In accordance with the literature [159] this concentration can be increased 500-800-fold after peripheral L-KYN (300 mg/kg, i.p.) + PROB (200 mg/kg, i.p.) administration.

The importance of this observation is immediately clear: it means that even the post-traumatic administration of L-KYN may be of substantial therapeutic benefit.

# **2.2.** Neuroprotective effects of L-KYN+PROB-treatments on hippocampal rat brain slices

In animals subjected to 10-min 4VO, severe neuronal damage was observed in the CA1 area of the hippocampus in both hemispheres 10 days after the intervention. The neuronal damage extended for millimeters in the anterior-posterior direction from -3.14 mm relative to the bregma. In this injured region, numerous of the pyramidal cells in the CA1 region were FJ<sup>+</sup> in each of the coronal sections, while those in the CA3 region and the dentate gyrus were not labelled (Fig. 15A). In accordance with this, the NeuN immunohistochemistry indicated the lack of intact cells in the CA1 region in the 4VO animals, but an intact CA3 region and dentate gyrus (Fig. 15B). L-KYN administered together with PROB caused a marked reduction in the number of damaged neurons. In the L-KYN-pretreated animals, injured neurons stained with FJ could be observed only sporadically in the CA1 area of the hippocampus (the same was true for the CA3 region and the dentate gyrus; Fig. 15C). Accordingly, NeuN immunohistochemistry gave the impression of a non-injured CA1 region (like the CA3 region and the dentate gyrus) in L-KYN-pre-treated 4VO animals (Fig. 15D).



**Fig. 15.** The effects of pre-treatment with L-KYN on the ischemic hippocampus of the rat. (A) Transient global ischemia (4VO) damaged the CA1 pyramidal cells in the hippocampus (the red arrow shows the injured CA1 region (FJ+ cells) of the hippocampus). (B) The CA3 area and the dentate gyrus are less vulnerable to transient ischemia: the NeuN-immunopositive region of the hippocampus (yellow arrows). (C) Pre-treatment of 4VO animals with L-KYN+PROB (L-KYN+PROB-4VO) protects the hippocampus from the ischemia-induced damage (red arrow). (D) In L-KYN+PROB-4VO-pre-treated rats, NeuN immunohistochemistry reveals intact areas throughout the hippocampus, including the CA1 and CA3 regions and the dentate gyrus (yellow arrows).

L-KYN administration considerably decreased the number of injured neurons in the CA1 region. However, the decrease in the number of injured neurons was highly significant only in the pre-treated group (L-KYN+PROB-4VO). The animals in the post-treated group (4VO-L-KYN+PROB) also exhibited a tendency to a reduction in the number of injured neurons, but this change was not significant (Fig. 16A). The NeuN immunohistochemistry supplemented these results: the number of non-injured cells was highest in the SC group, and lowest in the 4VO animals. Post-treatment with L-KYN

(4VO-L-KYN+PROB) had hardly any effect, while in the 4VO animals which received L-KYN before ischemia (L-KYN+PROB-4VO) the number of intact cells was comparable to the control level (Fig. 16B). In short, the L-KYN+PROB pre-treatment was able to reduce the proportion of damaged cells to 52% relative to the damaged cells induced by 4VO without L-KYN+PROB treatment. The L-KYN+PROB treatment after the 4VO intervention did not prove effective (see Table 2).



**Fig. 16.** The effects of L-KYN administration on the cell number/mm<sup>2</sup> in the CA1 region of four groups of animals. (A) The transient global ischemia (4VO)-induced increase in the number of injured cells was reduced in those animals which received L-KYN+PROB. The reduction was significant only in those animals which received L-KYN+PROB before transient global ischemia (L-KYN+PROB-4VO), though the number of FJ<sup>+</sup> cells was slightly altered in the post-treated animals (4VO-L-KYN+PROB). (B) NeuN immunohistochemistry supplemented the above results: the number of intact cells/mm<sup>2</sup> in the CA1 region of the hippocampus was appreciably reduced in the 4VO animals. Post-treatment was ineffective, whereas pre-treatment strongly increased the number of intact cells/mm<sup>2</sup> in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. Values are means±S.E.M. (*n*=6-7 rats/group). Differences between the SC and 4VO groups and between the 4VO and L-KYN+PROB-4VO groups were significant (p<0.001, one-way ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni test.

Groups:	Fluoro Jade B-positive(%):	NeuN-labeled (%):		
SC	0	100		
4VO	100	29,19		
4VO-L-KYN+PROB	86,29	31,02		
L-KYN+PROB-4VO	51,96	68,17		

**Table 2.** The proportions of injured and intact neurons in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. In the case of FJ-B positivity, the result for the 4VO group was taken as 100%, for the animals in this group exhibited the most extreme injuries. On the other hand, all 4VO-intervention groups were compared with the SC group in the case of NeuN labelling.

#### 2.3. In vitro electrophysiology

First of all, we explored the basal synaptic properties of the fEPSPs in order to evaluate the ischemia-induced impairment of the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synaptic transmission (Fig.17).



**Fig. 17.** Input-output (IO) curves of sham-operated controls (SC), 4VO animals, and 4VO animals which received L-KYN+PROB treatment. IO curves were established by plotting the fEPSP amplitudes against various test pulse intensities from 0 to 100  $\mu$ A. No significant difference was found between the IO curves in the three groups, implying that the basal functions of the pyramidal cells and synapses were not affected by complete ischemia.

For this purpose, the IO curves were established by plotting the fEPSP amplitude against various test pulse intensities from 0 to 100  $\mu$ A. The IO curve for the 4VO animals was positioned below that for the controls (while the curve for the L-KYN+PROB-4VO animals was positioned above it). However, there was no significant difference between the IO curves in the three groups, implying that the basal functions of the registered pyramidal cells and synapses were not affected by complete ischemia.



**Fig. 18.** Administration of L-KYN and PROB prevented the impairment of the long-term potentiation (LTP) response caused by global ischemia. In the SC group (n=5), LTP was induced by high-frequency stimulation of the Schaffer collaterals (HFS; 600 pulses at 100 Hz). LTP after HFS was not present in the 4VO group (n=11) 10 days after 10-min global cerebral ischemia. The L-KYN+PROB-4VO group (n=6) was subjected to the same carotid occlusion that was preceded and followed by i.p. injections of L-KYN and PROB. The course of LTP in this group was identical to that in the controls. Data points are means±S.E.M. of normalized slopes of fEPSPs. Statistically significant differences are denoted: (\*), (#) significant differences between SC and 4VO groups (\* p<0.05), and between treated and 4VO groups (# p<0.05; nonparametric test on two independent samples was used, the Mann-Whitney *U*-test).

LTP was induced by HFS of the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses. The fEPSPs were monitored for 40-60 min before conditioning stimulation until the amplitudes were generally stable, and their mean value was determined as the 20-min-long baseline before LTP induction. In the SC group, the HFS caused a robust increase (170-180%) in the slope of the fEPSPs (Fig.18, SC) and this increase in slope (and in amplitude) remained at the elevated level during the 1-h registration period. The same conditioning protocol did not induce a significant, lasting increase of the fEPSPs in the majority of the 4VO animals. In this group, the elevation of the amplitudes was only transient; no LTP was observed. At the end of the registration period, the slopes had returned to the control level, or decreased below the baseline (Fig. 18). The administration of L-KYN and PROB protected slices from the 4VO-induced LTP impairment. L-KYN restored the fEPSP slopes to the control level, and these parameters were stable until 60 min after HFS.

#### 2.4. Plasma and brain L-KYN and KYNA concentrations

In the sham-operated rats, L-KYN concentration was approximately 3-fold higher in the plasma than in the cortex and hippocampus. On the other hand, the KYNA concentration was higher in the cortex and hippocampus than in the plasma (p < 0.001), and higher in the cortex than in the hippocampus. As a consequence, the KYNA concentration in the sham-operated rats reached only 1.5% of the L-KYN concentration in the plasma, but 8% and 12% of the L-KYN concentrations in the hippocampus and cortex, respectively. Treatment with L-KYN+PROB considerably increased both the L-KYN and KYNA concentrations in the plasma and brain, and also altered their proportions within the compartments studied. The L-KYN concentration increased 37fold in the plasma and approximately 70-fold in the hippocampus and cortex, while the KYNA concentration was elevated roughly 300-fold in the plasma and 50-fold in the hippocampus and cortex. The L-KYN concentration increased more in the brain than in the plasma, and the L-KYN levels were similar in the plasma and brain after L-KYN+PROB administration, but this was probably due to the relatively large scatter of the data. Likewise, since the KYNA concentration increased more in the plasma than in the brain, the KYNA concentrations were similar in the plasma and brain, reaching 7-12% of the L-KYN concentration in the brain (Table 3).

	Plasma concen	tration, ng/ml	Hippocampal con wei	centration, ng/wet ght	Cortical concentration, ng/g wet weight	
	L-KYN	KYNA	L-KYN	KYNA	L-KYN	<u>KYNA</u>
Vehicle, n=5	602±21	8.8±0.5	212±18***	17.7±2.1***	235±22	28.2±3.2****
L-KYN+PROB, n=5	22518±5392	2695±783	14270±3801	996±318	1710±4492	1497±534
Ratio treated/SHAM	37	305	67	56	73	53

**Table 3.** The concentrations of L-KYN and KYNA in the plasma, brain cortex and hippocampus in rats in which the vertebral arteries were occluded bilaterally on the day before treatment. The animals were treated with vehicle or L-KYN+PROB 2 h before sacrifice, but no bilateral carotid artery occlusion was performed. Statistically significant differences are shown. \*\*\* p<0.001 vs. plasma. \* p<0.05 vs. cortex.

### 3. Comparative in vivo electrophysiological examination of KYNA and G-KYNA 3.1. Effects of KYNA

The responses of the area CA1 pyramidal cells to contralateral CA3 stimulation were tested before and after the injection of KYNA. KYNA was administered in doses of 17, 34, 68 or 136  $\mu$ mol/kg. Three animals were tested at each dose, with the exception of the 17  $\mu$ mol/kg dose, at which 6 animals were examined. Marked effects of the i.p. injected drug were not observed in any of the treated animals, apart from some transient, inconsistent deviations from the control level. In the main series of experiments, to facilitate comparability with the results of administration of G-KYNA (see below), 17  $\mu$ mol/kg (equimolar) KYNA was administered (i.p.); this resulted in only a slight, if any decrease in the amplitude of the CA1 responses (Fig. 19A and Table 4).

#### 3.2. Effects of G-KYNA

In pilot experiments, G-KYNA was administered in doses of 17 (n=6), 34 (n=3), 68 (n=3) or 136  $\mu$ mol/kg. G-KYNA, administered either i.v. or i.p., in a dose of 136  $\mu$ mol/kg resulted in 100% mortality within 5 min. Similarly, G-KYNA administered in a dose of 68  $\mu$ mol/kg i.v. resulted in a stoppage of breath, but the animals could be resuscitated. I.p. injection of this dose (68  $\mu$ mol/kg) of drug did not stop the breathing of the animals. These findings led us to reduce the dose of the drug to a level as low as possible, which still resulted in a marked and clear-cut decrease in amplitude of the CA1 pyramidal cell responses. We found that, in a dose of  $\geq$  17  $\mu$ mol/kg, G-KYNA induced consistent and appreciable decreases in the population spike amplitudes in all cases. This change started 50-60 min after drug administration, regardless of the mode of application. In some cases, a small and transient increase in amplitude was observed shortly after the application of the drug, but this was followed by a significant lasting decrease in amplitude in all cases (Fig. 19B and Table 4).



**Fig. 19.** Examples of the effects of the administered compounds on the population spike amplitudes recorded in CA1. (A) After KYNA injection there were some decreases in amplitude, but these changes were not marked. The observations were similar after the i.p. injection of KYNA in higher doses up to 136 µmol/kg. (B) G-KYNA injection resulted in marked and significant decreases in the CA1 population spike amplitudes with a 50-60 min delay. Ordinate: spike amplitudes as percentages of the controls (C). Abscissa: time in min after drug injection. Each column represents the mean±S.D. for 5 potentials. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01.

#### 3.3. Effects of PROB

PROB administered in a dose of 200 mg/kg i.p. did not cause an immediate significant change in the amplitude of the evoked population spike activity. In most cases, it resulted in a decrease in amplitude, but this needed a longer period (60-90 min) to develop. This observation is fully consistent with our results in acute PTZ-induced seizures, and is therefore not shown here.

#### 3.4. Effects of KYNA+PROB

The results were similar when KYNA was administered together with PROB. In most cases, when KYNA (17  $\mu$ mol/kg) and PROB (200 mg/kg) were administered together, there was no change in the amplitudes of the responses during 1 h following the drug application, except for a transient, slight facilitation in a few cases, but with a 1.5-2 h delay, a slight decrease in amplitude was registered in all cases (Fig. 20A and Table 4).

#### 3.5. Effects of G-KYNA+PROB

The results were quite different when G-KYNA was administered together with PROB. G-KYNA (17  $\mu$ mol/kg) administered together with PROB (200 mg/kg) resulted in a progressive and, by the end of the recording period, a considerable decrease in amplitude of the CA1 population spikes. The decrease in amplitude began and became significant within 10-20 min, and continued over the 3 h registration time (Fig. 20B and Table 4). In some of the experiments, the registration continued over 4.5 h. In these animals, the reduction in amplitude was progressive throughout the whole experiment (Fig. 20C).



**Fig. 20.** Examples of the effects of KYNA or G-KYNA administered together with PROB. (A) After a transient increase, KYNA+PROB resulted in decreased CA1 population spikes with a 1.5-2 h delay. (B) G-KYNA+PROB i.p. injection resulted in considerable decreases in amplitude, shortly (10-20 min) after the administration. In some cases (as presented here), the amplitudes fell to 35-40% of the controls, while in most cases, as in panel C below, the amplitudes fell only to 60-70% of the controls, in spite of the relatively long recording period. The ordinate and abscissa are the same as in Fig. 19.

	с	0-30 min	30-60 min	60-90 min	90-120 min	120-150 min	150-180 min
KYNA	100	95,88±3,9	90,55±2,1 *	88,61±1,5 **	90,08±2,8 *	87,20±2,6 *	87,39±2,4 *
G-KYNA	100	100,64±0,5	91,03±4,2	83,96±3,8 *	78,55±4,6 *	63,93±8,2 *	61,65±3,0 **
KYNA+PROB	100	97,79±1,5	105,94±11,9	98,43±4,2	85,75±8,1	84,35±5,7 *	77,76±1,4 **
G-KYNA+PROB	100	93,11±2,5 *	88,43±0,8 **	81,47±2,9 **	74,51±4,2 **	73,50±2,9 **	65,13±6,6 **

**Table 4.** Changes in population spike amplitudes of CA1 pyramidal cells. Data summarising the effects of KYNA, G-KYNA, KYNA+PROB and G-KYNA+PROB on the amplitudes of the population spikes recorded during 30 min blocks in the pyramidal layer of region CA1 of the hippocampus. C: Normalized amplitudes of responses before drug injections (100%). Amplitudes (means±S.D.). G-KYNA+PROB treatment was the most effective in inducing a persistent and long-lasting decrease in the amplitudes. \* p < 0.05 (n=6 animals in each group), \*\* p < 0.01 (n=6 animals in each group).

#### 3.6. Blood pressure

In 6 animals, the basal blood pressure and the effects of KYNA and of G-KYNA on the blood pressure were examined. In all animals, the intra-carotid blood pressure was found to be 100-119 mm Hg. Neither KYNA nor G-KYNA influenced the intra-carotid blood pressure markedly.

#### Discussion

The neuroinhibitory properties of KYNA were revealed in neurophysiological experiments more than 20 years ago [13]. Later, various experiments proved that KYNA is a broad-spectrum antagonist of EAA receptors; it inhibits the overexcitation of NMDA receptors [160, 161]. At low concentrations, KYNA preferentially blocks the glycine co-agonist site of these receptors [162]. Moreover, KYNA can inhibit  $\alpha$ 7-nACh receptors presynaptically and hence modify the glutamatergic transmission [15]. Because of its interesting pharmacological characteristics and neuroprotective and anticonvulsant properties [102, 163], KYNA, several of its derivatives and different KP metabolites have become widely used tools in neurobiological research.

The primary finding of our study was that the peripheral administration of L-KYN and PROB eliminated the effects of PTZ; the responses to glutamatergic inputs were decreased in the CA1 region of the hippocampus, and in the behavioural experiments L-KYN and PROB pre-treatment protected the animals from the PTZinduced kindling of seizures and death.

On the basis of the literature cited in the introduction, we may suppose that, if the KYNA content of the brain is high enough, it has a definite neuroprotective effect. The normal concentration of KYNA in the brain is too low to influence the EAA receptors, and even under pathological conditions the data do not indicate that the concentration elevation will necessarily allow KYNA to influence the co-agonist site of the NMDA receptor.

In our study, we administered a relatively high systemic doses of the precursor, L-KYN (and even higher doses in combination with PROB), which led to a nonphysiological concentration of KYNA. This proved effective: L-KYN administered i.p. slightly (not significantly) decreased the population spike amplitude of the CA1 pyramidal cell responses. PROB had a somewhat stronger effect, with a longer delay. The two compounds administered together resulted in a marked and significant decrease in amplitude of the population spikes evoked on the CA1 pyramidal cells. This effect is probably based on the inhibition of the NMDA receptors of the CA1 pyramidal cells by the elevated level of KYNA in the brain tissue, as a consequence of peripheral L-KYN and PROB administration. This seemed to be able to compensate the overexcitation induced by PTZ. Indeed, 60 mg/kg PTZ administered i.p. resulted in a significant increase in amplitude of the CA1 spike activity, and this effect was completely compensated by pre-treatment with L-KYN+PROB. In parallel with the electrophysiological results, we studied the effects of L-KYN+PROB pre-treatment on the PTZ-induced seizures and death in awake animals. To test the possible protective effect of L-KYN+PROB in behaving animals, we chose the convulsive dose of 60 mg/kg PTZ. The pre-treatment with L-KYN+PROB was effective in protecting the animals against the generalized clonic seizures. Although they exhibited reduced rearing, washing and defecation activity, we did not observe any difference in behaviour between the controls and the treated animals in an open-field arena.

In the water-maze task, the L-KYN+PROB+PTZ-treated animals revealed a significantly impaired performance, while those animals, which received pure L-KYN or L-KYN+PROB did not exhibit a significantly impaired performance as compared with the controls. Until the number of PTZ-treated animals decreased to a critical level, this group also displayed a good performance in the water-maze studies. This is in accordance with the results of Szyndler *et al.* [164], who found that PTZ-kindled rats did not demonstrate any significant differences in short-term and long-term memory in a passive avoidance test.

In accordance with our *in vivo* electrophysiological results, KYNA administered *in vitro* led to a decrease in the amplitude of the evoked fEPSPs in the hippocampal CA1 region [165]. These results have demonstrated that the conversion L-KYN $\rightarrow$ KYNA produces KYNA in an amount that is not only detectable by analytical methods [166], but also sufficient to prevent the neuroexcitatory effect of PTZ. The L-KYN $\rightarrow$ KYNA conversion was proved via KAT blocker (L-NNA) administration [165].

It has long been known that a reduction in cerebral blood flow is closely related to different kinds of brain dysfunctions [167, 168]. Understandably, research activity relating to the consequences of cerebral hypoperfusion has recently been high (some recent reviews: [169-171]). The CA1 region of the hippocampus is particularly vulnerable to hypoxic conditions [172, 173]. Our results have shown that 4VO-induced temporal global ischemia results in neuronal damage not only in the hippocampus, but also in the neocortex. Moreover, L-KYN application significantly reduced this cortical neuronal damage after either pre- or post-ischemic administration. Nozaki and Beal [174] first reported that the pre-administration of L-KYN proved neuroprotective in a neonatal model of ischemia. Accordingly, the systemic administration of L-KYN dosedependently increases the KYNA content of the brain [149]. The extensive literature (see the recent reviews by [74, 175, 176]) suggests that an appropriate elevation of the brain KYNA concentration leads to a neuroprotective effect. The normal concentration of KYNA that we measured in the CSF by mass spectrometry is 20-30 nM, which is in good accordance with the results of Moroni et al. [177]. A considerable (800-1300-fold) increase in the brain KYNA level following the peripheral administration of L-KYN+PROB was demonstrated more than 15 years ago [159, 174].

Evidence is accumulating which suggests that an ischemia-induced sustained elevation in intracellular calcium concentration  $[Ca^{2+}]_I$  contributes to cell death [178-180]. The secondary rise during reperfusion injury is more likely to be responsible for apoptotic than for immediate necrotic damage, which occurs in the CA1 neurons in particular 2-3 days after the induction of global ischemia [181]. These processes of injury of the CA1 neurons are attained via NMDA activation [182, 183].

L-KYN administration has proved to be neuroprotective in histological studies. However, the neuronal degeneration marker used, Fluoro Jade B, does not discriminate between apoptotic and necrotic cell damage. Moreover, recent studies have indicated that Fluoro Jade B can stain neurons degenerating as a result of an acute insult, and it can label activated microglia and astrocytes during a chronic neuronal degenerative process [184, 185]. All these points should be taken into consideration.

The systemic administration of L-KYN together with PROB resulted in concentrations of KYNA in the brain which have proved to be neuroprotective in histological and behavioural studies [128]. However, relatively little is known about its impact on the outcome of synaptic plasticity. A novel finding here is that the administration of L-KYN (+PROB) once before and 4 times after 4VO-induced transient global ischemia proved neuroprotective in histological studies, and also reduced (nearly abolished) the impaired LTP induction in the Schaffer collateral - CA1 pathway in adult rats. Interestingly, the IO curves of the controls, and of ischemic + L-KYN+PROB-treated rats did not display significant changes. This suggests that it is the machinery of LTP that is injured rather than the basal functions of the pyramidal cells and synapses. It should additionally be taken into consideration that, though the FJ-B labelling indicates massive neuronal degeneration in the untreated 4VO group, the NeuN positivity demonstrates that nearly 1/3 of the neurons in this group remained intact, in spite of the complete ischemia.

Although we do not know sufficient about ischemia-induced injuries of the LTP machinery, it is clear that ischemia may impair physiological forms of synaptic plasticity, such as activity-dependent LTP [136]. However, Crepel et al., [186] characterized a pathological form of synaptic plasticity induced by a few minutes of

anoxia and aglycemia *in vitro*. This form of potentiation is referred to as anoxic LTP, which also requires an increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_I$  [187]. In contrast with tetanic LTP, the expression of anoxic LTP is mediated exclusively by NMDA receptors (reviewed by [137]). Anoxic LTP involves the redox modulatory site of the NMDA receptor [188].

In most cases, after transient global ischemia, the surviving neurons displayed normal transmission, except for the reduction in the maximum level of fEPSPs that seems to be a consequence of the cell number reduction due to ischemic cell death. The impaired LTP induction should reflect deficits in the machinery specific to LTP induction in the individual surviving neurons. Although the mechanism is not yet known, we have demonstrated for the first time here that treatment with L-KYN+PROB rescues the Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses from impaired LTP induction after transient global ischemia.

The results cited above and our observations presented here suggest that L-KYN administration results in the production of the neuroprotective KYNA rather than the neurotoxic QUIN. This assumption is supported by the present complex histological and electrophysiological results, which prove that L-KYN, as a precursor of the glutamate receptor antagonist KYNA, offers advantages over KYNA in the treatment of ischemic brain damage. These results raise the possibility that long-term L-KYN administration may be useful in delaying neuronal loss in certain neurodegenerative disorders.

The primary finding of our comparative *in vivo* electrophysiological examination of KYNA and G-KYNA was that the peripheral administration of G-KYNA in a dose as low as 17 µmol/kg, especially together with PROB, effectively reduced the responses to glutmatergic input in region CA1 of the hippocampus, while pure KYNA injected either equimolarly or in higher doses, did not do so. These results suggests that the manipulation of brain kynurenines, e.g. increase of the KYNA level in the brain, may reduce the overactivation of EAA receptors, and offers novel therapeutic opportunities.

However, the use of KYNA as a neuroprotective agent is rather restricted because it has only a very limited ability to cross the BBB [21]. This is supported by the results we have presented here: systemically administered KYNA in doses of 17, 34, 68 or 136 µmol/kg did not cause any observable change in the anaesthetized animals, either in their breathing, or in the electrophysiological activity of their CA1 region. Against this, G-KYNA in a dose of 136 µmol/kg resulted in the death of the animals in all cases, while 68 µmol/kg (i.v.) G-KYNA induced the stoppage of breathing of the animals, though they could be resuscitated. A dose of G-KYNA as small as 17 µmol/kg was

effective in reducing the CA3 stimulation-evoked activity of the CA1 pyramidal cells in the hippocampus. This effect was augmented when G-KYNA was administered together with PROB, which is known to be an inhibitor of the transport of organic acids from the CSF, and has been demonstrated to increase the brain concentration of KYNA [149]. PROB administered with KYNA was not so effective, probably because i.p. or i.v. injected KYNA does not cross the BBB. A slight decrease in evoked activity was observed with a long (1-1,5 h) delay in these experiments too. This suggests that PROB itself induced an increase in the brain KYNA content, which is probably based only on the endogenous KYNA. These results suggest that G-KYNA passes the BBB much more readily than does KYNA.

The discovery of the importance of the family of kynurenines in the brain function under physiological and pathological conditions has led to the development of powerful new compounds that promise to emerge as some of the first effective treatments for brain neuroprotection and as valuable adjuncts or alternative therapies for other CNS disorders. It is likely that, with continued development, a selection of new agents will soon be suitable for therapeutic intervention in the prevention or treatment of brain damage and neurodegenerative disorders, areas that at present remain almost impossible to treat.

Three potential therapeutic alternatives appear to offer the perspectives for the future (the use of pro-drugs of KYNA, like L-KYN; application of KYNA analogues; and manipulation of the KP by enzyme inhibitors). Nevertheless, it would be especially important to explore the L-KYN metabolism with softer and more sensitive methods in patients with different diseases. A good number of researchers have measured the levels of KYNA and QUIN in the plasma and CSF in certain conditions, but the causes and effects between KYNA and diseases are still not known in detail, and in most cases they are quite unknown. In the future, it would be useful to elicit the relationships between the KP and diseases through the application of sensitive molecular techniques in line with the development of powerful new compounds. In the face of all these challenges, it is clearly necessary to develop and spread the personal therapies of the patients with utilization of the recent research results.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor József Toldi, Head of the Department of Physiology, Anatomy and Neuroscience, University of Szeged, and Professor László Vécsei, Member of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Head of the Department of Neurology, University of Szeged, for having faith in my scientific ability by assigning me to a very challenging project and giving me the freedom to explore many areas of my research project. I thank them for being a great chiefs and friends. I would also like to thank Éva Rózsa for her help and friendship throughout my life in Szeged.

I am further grateful to all those co-workers with whom I performed the experiments, especially Dr. Hajnalka Németh-Görög, Dr. Márta Ágoston (Division of Preclinical Research, EGIS Pharmaceuticals PLC, Budapest), Dr. Katalin Sas (Department of Neurology) and Tamás Kopcsányi.

I would also like to thank Dr. Zsolt Kis and Gabriella Rákos for all their help and instructions in the field of immunohistochemistry.

I am indebted to Dr. Tamás Farkas and Máté Marosi for performing us the *in vitro* electrophysiological experiments.

I would like to express my special gratitude to my friends and family for their continuous support and love throughout my work.

#### References

- 1. Stone, TW, MN Perkins: Quinolinic acid: a potent endogenous excitant at amino acid receptors in CNS. *Eur J Pharmacol* 72, 411-2 (1981).
- 2. Schwarcz, R, WO Whetsell, Jr., RM Mangano: Quinolinic acid: an endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. *Science* 219, 316-8 (1983).
- 3. Stone, TW: Neuropharmacology of quinolinic and kynurenic acids. *Pharmacol Rev* 45, 309-79 (1993).
- 4. Stone, TW: Kynurenines in the CNS: from endogenous obscurity to therapeutic importance. *Prog Neurobiol* 64, 185-218 (2001).
- 5. Stone, TW, LG Darlington: Endogenous kynurenines as targets for drug discovery and development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 1, 609-20 (2002).
- 6. Kim, JP, DW Choi: Quinolinate neurotoxicity in cortical cell culture. *Neuroscience* 23, 423-32 (1987).
- 7. Galarraga, E, DJ Surmeier, ST Kitai: Quinolinate and kainate neurotoxicity in neostriatal cultures is potentiated by co-culturing with neocortical neurons. *Brain Res* 512, 269-76 (1990).
- 8. Whetsell, WO, Jr., R Schwarcz: Prolonged exposure to submicromolar concentrations of quinolinic acid causes excitotoxic damage in organotypic cultures of rat corticostriatal system. *Neurosci Lett* 97, 271-5 (1989).
- 9. Giulian, D, E Wendt, K Vaca, CA Noonan: The envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 stimulates release of neurotoxins from monocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 2769-73 (1993).
- Santamaria, A, S Galvan-Arzate, V Lisy *et al.*: Quinolinic acid induces oxidative stress in rat brain synaptosomes. *Neuroreport* 12, 871-4 (2001).
- 11. Stone, TW: Development and therapeutic potential of kynurenic acid and kynurenine derivatives for neuroprotection. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 21, 149-54 (2000).
- Stone, TW, GM Mackay, CM Forrest, CJ Clark, LG Darlington: Tryptophan metabolites and brain disorders. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 41, 852-9 (2003).
- 13. Perkins, MN, TW Stone: An iontophoretic investigation of the actions of convulsant kynurenines and their interaction with the endogenous excitant quinolinic acid. *Brain Res* 247, 184-7 (1982).
- Morris, RG, E Anderson, GS Lynch, M Baudry: Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. *Nature* 319, 774-6 (1986).
- 15. Hilmas, C, EF Pereira, M Alkondon, A Rassoulpour, R Schwarcz, EX Albuquerque: The brain metabolite kynurenic acid inhibits alpha7 nicotinic receptor activity and increases non-alpha7 nicotinic receptor expression: physiopathological implications. *J Neurosci* 21, 7463-73 (2001).
- 16. Alkondon, M, EF Pereira, P Yu *et al.*: Targeted deletion of the kynurenine aminotransferase ii gene reveals a critical role of endogenous kynurenic acid in the regulation of synaptic transmission via alpha7 nicotinic receptors in the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* 24, 4635-48 (2004).
- 17. Yoshida, R, J Imanishi, T Oku, T Kishida, O Hayaishi: Induction of pulmonary indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase by interferon. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 78, 129-32 (1981).
- 18. Taylor, MW, GS Feng: Relationship between interferon-gamma, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, and tryptophan catabolism. *Faseb J* 5, 2516-22 (1991).
- 19. Hwu, P, MX Du, R Lapointe, M Do, MW Taylor, HA Young: Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase production by human dendritic cells results in the inhibition of T cell proliferation. *J Immunol* 164, 3596-9 (2000).
- 20. Ball, HJ, HJ Yuasa, CJ Austin, S Weiser, NH Hunt: Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-2; a new enzyme in the kynurenine pathway. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 41, 467-471 (2008).
- 21. Fukui, S, R Schwarcz, SI Rapoport, Y Takada, QR Smith: Blood-brain barrier transport of kynurenines: implications for brain synthesis and metabolism. *J Neurochem* 56, 2007-17 (1991).

- 22. Cooper, AJ: The role of glutamine transaminase K (GTK) in sulfur and alpha-keto acid metabolism in the brain, and in the possible bioactivation of neurotoxicants. *Neurochem Int* 44, 557-77 (2004).
- 23. Schwarcz, R: The kynurenine pathway of tryptophan degradation as a drug target. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 4, 12-7 (2004).
- 24. Perry, SJ, MA Schofield, M MacFarlane *et al.*: Isolation and expression of a cDNA coding for rat kidney cytosolic cysteine conjugate beta-lyase. *Mol Pharmacol* 43, 660-5 (1993).
- 25. Perry, S, H Harries, C Scholfield *et al.*: Molecular cloning and expression of a cDNA for human kidney cysteine conjugate beta-lyase. *FEBS Lett* 360, 277-80 (1995).
- 26. Carninci, P, Y Hayashizaki: High-efficiency full-length cDNA cloning. *Methods Enzymol* 303, 19-44 (1999).
- Plant, N, I Kitchen, PS Goldfarb, GG Gibson: Developmental modulation of cysteine conjugate beta-lyase/glutamine transaminase K/kynurenine aminotransferase mRNA in rat brain. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* 22, 335-9 (1997).
- 28. Ceresoli-Borroni, G, R Schwarcz: Perinatal kynurenine pathway metabolism in the normal and asphyctic rat brain. *Amino Acids* 19, 311-23 (2000).
- 29. Guidetti, P, E Okuno, R Schwarcz: Characterization of rat brain kynurenine aminotransferases I and II. *J Neurosci Res* 50, 457-65 (1997).
- 30. Han, Q, J Li, J Li: pH dependence, substrate specificity and inhibition of human kynurenine aminotransferase I. *Eur J Biochem* 271, 4804-14 (2004).
- 31. Buchli, R, D Alberati-Giani, P Malherbe, C Kohler, C Broger, AM Cesura: Cloning and functional expression of a soluble form of kynurenine/alpha-aminoadipate aminotransferase from rat kidney. *J Biol Chem* 270, 29330-5 (1995).
- 32. Yu, P, DM Mosbrook, DA Tagle: Genomic organization and expression analysis of mouse kynurenine aminotransferase II, a possible factor in the pathophysiology of Huntington's disease. *Mamm Genome* 10, 845-52 (1999).
- 33. Goh, DL, A Patel, GH Thomas *et al.*: Characterization of the human gene encoding alphaaminoadipate aminotransferase (AADAT). *Mol Genet Metab* 76, 172-80 (2002).
- 34. Du, F, W Schmidt, E Okuno, R Kido, C Kohler, R Schwarcz: Localization of kynurenine aminotransferase immunoreactivity in the rat hippocampus. *J Comp Neurol* 321, 477-87 (1992).
- 35. Guillemin, GJ, SJ Kerr, GA Smythe *et al.*: Kynurenine pathway metabolism in human astrocytes: a paradox for neuronal protection. *J Neurochem* 78, 842-53 (2001).
- 36. Guillemin, GJ, KM Cullen, CK Lim *et al.*: Characterization of the kynurenine pathway in human neurons. *J Neurosci* 27, 12884-92 (2007).
- Knyihar-Csillik, E, E Okuno, L Vecsei: Effects of in vivo sodium azide administration on the immunohistochemical localization of kynurenine aminotransferase in the rat brain. *Neuroscience* 94, 269-77 (1999).
- Kapoor, R, E Okuno, R Kido, V Kapoor: Immuno-localization of kynurenine aminotransferase (KAT) in the rat medulla and spinal cord. *Neuroreport* 8, 3619-23 (1997).
- 39. Yu, P, Z Li, L Zhang, DA Tagle, T Cai: Characterization of kynurenine aminotransferase III, a novel member of a phylogenetically conserved KAT family. *Gene* 365, 111-8 (2006).
- 40. Guidetti, P, L Amori, MT Sapko, E Okuno, R Schwarcz: Mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase: a third kynurenate-producing enzyme in the mammalian brain. *J Neurochem* 102, 103-11 (2007).
- 41. Erickson, JB, EM Flanagan, S Russo, JF Reinhard, Jr.: A radiometric assay for kynurenine 3hydroxylase based on the release of 3H2O during hydroxylation of L-[3,5-3H]kynurenine. *Anal Biochem* 205, 257-62 (1992).
- 42. Vazquez, S, JA Aquilina, JF Jamie, MM Sheil, RJ Truscott: Novel protein modification by kynurenine in human lenses. *J Biol Chem* 277, 4867-73 (2002).
- 43. Guidetti, P, R Schwarcz: 3-Hydroxykynurenine potentiates quinolinate but not NMDA toxicity in the rat striatum. *Eur J Neurosci* 11, 3857-63 (1999).

- 44. Guillemin, GJ, SJ Kerr, BJ Brew: Involvement of quinolinic acid in AIDS dementia complex. *Neurotox Res* 7, 103-23 (2005).
- 45. Tavares, RG, CI Tasca, CE Santos, M Wajner, DO Souza, CS Dutra-Filho: Quinolinic acid inhibits glutamate uptake into synaptic vesicles from rat brain. *Neuroreport* 11, 249-53 (2000).
- 46. Tavares, RG, CI Tasca, CE Santos *et al.*: Quinolinic acid stimulates synaptosomal glutamate release and inhibits glutamate uptake into astrocytes. *Neurochem Int* 40, 621-7 (2002).
- 47. Rios, C, A Santamaria: Quinolinic acid is a potent lipid peroxidant in rat brain homogenates. *Neurochem Res* 16, 1139-43 (1991).
- 48. Behan, WM, TW Stone: Enhanced neuronal damage by co-administration of quinolinic acid and free radicals, and protection by adenosine A2A receptor antagonists. *Br J Pharmacol* 135, 1435-42 (2002).
- 49. Schurr, A, BM Rigor: Quinolinate potentiates the neurotoxicity of excitatory amino acids in hypoxic neuronal tissue in vitro. *Brain Res* 617, 76-80 (1993).
- 50. Bordelon, YM, MF Chesselet, D Nelson, F Welsh, M Erecinska: Energetic dysfunction in quinolinic acid-lesioned rat striatum. *J Neurochem* 69, 1629-39 (1997).
- 51. Schwarcz, R, AC Foster, ED French, WO Whetsell, Jr., C Kohler: Excitotoxic models for neurodegenerative disorders. *Life Sci* 35, 19-32 (1984).
- 52. Beal, MF, NW Kowall, DW Ellison, MF Mazurek, KJ Swartz, JB Martin: Replication of the neurochemical characteristics of Huntington's disease by quinolinic acid. *Nature* 321, 168-71 (1986).
- 53. Beal, MF, RJ Ferrante, KJ Swartz, NW Kowall: Chronic quinolinic acid lesions in rats closely resemble Huntington's disease. *J Neurosci* 11, 1649-59 (1991).
- 54. Foster, AC, RJ White, R Schwarcz: Synthesis of quinolinic acid by 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid oxygenase in rat brain tissue in vitro. *J Neurochem* 47, 23-30 (1986).
- 55. Schwarcz, R, E Okuno, RJ White, ED Bird, WO Whetsell, Jr.: 3-Hydroxyanthranilate oxygenase activity is increased in the brains of Huntington disease victims. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85, 4079-81 (1988).
- 56. Saito, K, TS Nowak, Jr., SP Markey, MP Heyes: Mechanism of delayed increases in kynurenine pathway metabolism in damaged brain regions following transient cerebral ischemia. *J Neurochem* 60, 180-92 (1993).
- 57. Du, F, J Williamson, E Bertram, E Lothman, E Okuno, R Schwarcz: Kynurenine pathway enzymes in a rat model of chronic epilepsy: immunohistochemical study of activated glial cells. *Neuroscience* 55, 975-89 (1993).
- 58. Matthew, CK, KE Van Holde, KG Ahern. Biochemistry. 2003: Addison-Wesley: Boston.
- 59. Burkle, A: Physiology and pathophysiology of poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation. *Bioessays* 23, 795-806 (2001).
- 60. Wilkinson, A, J Day, R Bowater: Bacterial DNA ligases. Mol Microbiol 40, 1241-8 (2001).
- 61. Smith, JS, JD Boeke: An unusual form of transcriptional silencing in yeast ribosomal DNA. *Genes Dev* 11, 241-54 (1997).
- 62. Rutter, J, M Reick, LC Wu, SL McKnight: Regulation of clock and NPAS2 DNA binding by the redox state of NAD cofactors. *Science* 293, 510-4 (2001).
- 63. Grant, RS, H Naif, M Espinosa, V Kapoor: IDO induction in IFN-gamma activated astroglia: a role in improving cell viability during oxidative stress. *Redox Rep* 5, 101-4 (2000).
- 64. Grant, RS, V Kapoor: Murine glial cells regenerate NAD, after peroxide-induced depletion, using either nicotinic acid, nicotinamide, or quinolinic acid as substrates. *J Neurochem* 70, 1759-63 (1998).
- 65. Heyes, MP, CL Achim, CA Wiley, EO Major, K Saito, SP Markey: Human microglia convert ltryptophan into the neurotoxin quinolinic acid. *Biochem J* 320 (Pt 2), 595-7 (1996).

- 66. Gal, EM, AD Sherman: L-kynurenine: its synthesis and possible regulatory function in brain. *Neurochem Res* 5, 223-39 (1980).
- 67. Guillemin, GJ, G Smythe, O Takikawa, BJ Brew: Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and production of quinolinic acid by human microglia, astrocytes, and neurons. *Glia* 49, 15-23 (2005).
- 68. Guillemin, GJ, DG Smith, SJ Kerr *et al.*: Characterisation of kynurenine pathway metabolism in human astrocytes and implications in neuropathogenesis. *Redox Rep* 5, 108-11 (2000).
- 69. Moffett, JR, MA Namboodiri: Tryptophan and the immune response. *Immunol Cell Biol* 81, 247-65 (2003).
- 70. Mellor, AL, D Munn, P Chandler *et al.*: Tryptophan catabolism and T cell responses. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 527, 27-35 (2003).
- 71. Mellor, AL, B Baban, P Chandler *et al.*: Cutting edge: induced indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase expression in dendritic cell subsets suppresses T cell clonal expansion. *J Immunol* 171, 1652-5 (2003).
- 72. Mellor, AL, DH Munn: IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4, 762-74 (2004).
- 73. Nemeth, H, H Robotka, J Toldi, L Vecsei: Kynurenines in the central nervous system: Recent developments. *Central Nervous System Agents in Medical Chemistry* 7, 45-56 (2007).
- 74. Robotka, H, J Toldi, L Vecsei: L-kynurenine: metabolism and mechanism of neuroprotection. *Future Neurology* 3, 169-188(20) (2008).
- 75. Baran, H: Alterations of taurine in the brain of chronic kainic acid epilepsy model. *Amino Acids* 31, 303-7 (2006).
- 76. Dichter, MA, GF Ayala: Cellular mechanisms of epilepsy: a status report. *Science* 237, 157-64 (1987).
- 77. Sato, M, RJ Racine, DC McIntyre: Kindling: basic mechanisms and clinical validity. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 76, 459-72 (1990).
- 78. Freichel, C, H Potschka, U Ebert, C Brandt, W Loscher: Acute changes in the neuronal expression of GABA and glutamate decarboxylase isoforms in the rat piriform cortex following status epilepticus. *Neuroscience* 141, 2177-94 (2006).
- 79. Park, JH, H Cho, H Kim, K Kim: Repeated brief epileptic seizures by pentylenetetrazole cause neurodegeneration and promote neurogenesis in discrete brain regions of freely moving adult rats. *Neuroscience* 140, 673-84 (2006).
- 80. Tang, ZQ, YG Lu, L Chen: Developmental stability of taurine's activation on glycine receptors in cultured neurons of rat auditory cortex. *Neurosci Lett* 430, 54-9 (2008).
- 81. Sejima, H, M Ito, K Kishi, H Tsuda, H Shiraishi: Regional excitatory and inhibitory amino acid concentrations in pentylenetetrazol kindling and kindled rat brain. *Brain Dev* 19, 171-5 (1997).
- 82. Wilson, CL, NT Maidment, MH Shomer *et al.*: Comparison of seizure related amino acid release in human epileptic hippocampus versus a chronic, kainate rat model of hippocampal epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res* 26, 245-54 (1996).
- 83. Frantseva, MV, JL Perez Velazquez, G Tsoraklidis *et al.*: Oxidative stress is involved in seizureinduced neurodegeneration in the kindling model of epilepsy. *Neuroscience* 97, 431-5 (2000).
- 84. Gluck, MR, E Jayatilleke, S Shaw, AJ Rowan, V Haroutunian: CNS oxidative stress associated with the kainic acid rodent model of experimental epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res* 39, 63-71 (2000).
- 85. Patsoukis, N, G Zervoudakis, CD Georgiou, F Angelatou, NA Matsokis, NT Panagopoulos: Effect of pentylenetetrazol-induced epileptic seizure on thiol redox state in the mouse cerebral cortex. *Epilepsy Res* 62, 65-74 (2004).
- Patsoukis, N, G Zervoudakis, NT Panagopoulos, CD Georgiou, F Angelatou, NA Matsokis: Thiol redox state (TRS) and oxidative stress in the mouse hippocampus after pentylenetetrazol-induced epileptic seizure. *Neurosci Lett* 357, 83-6 (2004).

- 87. Sudha, K, AV Rao, A Rao: Oxidative stress and antioxidants in epilepsy. *Clin Chim Acta* 303, 19-24 (2001).
- Oliver, CN, PE Starke-Reed, ER Stadtman, GJ Liu, JM Carney, RA Floyd: Oxidative damage to brain proteins, loss of glutamine synthetase activity, and production of free radicals during ischemia/reperfusion-induced injury to gerbil brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87, 5144-7 (1990).
- 89. Kudin, AP, NY Bimpong-Buta, S Vielhaber, CE Elger, WS Kunz: Characterization of superoxideproducing sites in isolated brain mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 279, 4127-35 (2004).
- 90. Tchekalarova, J, V Georgiev: Effect of acute versus chronic theophylline administration on acute restraint stress-induced increase of pentylenetetrazol seizure threshold in mice. *Brain Res Bull* 68, 464-8 (2006).
- 91. Yudkoff, M, Y Daikhin, I Nissim *et al.*: Short-term fasting, seizure control and brain amino acid metabolism. *Neurochem Int* 48, 650-6 (2006).
- 92. Macdonald, RL, JL Barker: Pentylenetetrazol and penicillin are selective antagonists of GABAmediated post-synaptic inhibition in cultured mammalian neurones. *Nature* 267, 720-1 (1977).
- 93. Brito, VB, V Folmer, GO Puntel *et al.*: Diphenyl diselenide and 2,3-dimercaptopropanol increase the PTZ-induced chemical seizure and mortality in mice. *Brain Res Bull* 68, 414-8 (2006).
- 94. De Deyn, PP, RL Macdonald: Effects of antiepileptic drugs on GABA responses and on reduction of GABA responses by PTZ and DMCM on mouse neurons in cell culture. *Epilepsia* 30, 17-25 (1989).
- 95. Costa, LG: Cell signalling and neurotoxic events. Principles of neurotoxicology. L.W. Chang Editor, Marcel Dekker: New York. pp. 475-93 (1994).
- 96. Obay, BD, E Tasdemir, C Tumer, HM Bilgin, M Atmaca: Dose dependent effects of ghrelin on pentylenetetrazole-induced oxidative stress in a rat seizure model. *Peptides* 29, 448-55 (2008).
- 97. Rogawski, MA, W Loscher: The neurobiology of antiepileptic drugs. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 5, 553-64 (2004).
- Macdonald, RL, KM Kelly: Antiepileptic drug mechanisms of action. *Epilepsia* 36 Suppl 2, S2-12 (1995).
- 99. Kohl, BK, G Dannhardt: The NMDA receptor complex: a promising target for novel antiepileptic strategies. *Curr Med Chem* 8, 1275-89 (2001).
- 100. Dannhardt, G, BK Kohl: The glycine site on the NMDA receptor: structure-activity relationships and possible therapeutic applications. *Curr Med Chem* 5, 253-63 (1998).
- 101. Danysz, W, CG Parsons: Glycine and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors: physiological significance and possible therapeutic applications. *Pharmacol Rev* 50, 597-664 (1998).
- 102. Foster, AC, A Vezzani, ED French, R Schwarcz: Kynurenic acid blocks neurotoxicity and seizures induced in rats by the related brain metabolite quinolinic acid. *Neurosci Lett* 48, 273-8 (1984).
- 103. Kis, J, M Czuczwar, E Zielinska, I Bojar, SJ Czuczwar, WA Turski: Kynurenic acid does not protect against nicotine-induced seizures in mice. *Pol J Pharmacol* 52, 477-80 (2000).
- 104. Turski, WA, E Urbanska, M Dziki, J Parada-Turska, C Ikonomidou: Excitatory amino acid antagonists protect mice against seizures induced by bicuculline. *Brain Res* 514, 131-4 (1990).
- 105. Scharfman, HE, A Ofer: Pretreatment with L-kynurenine, the precursor to the excitatory amino acid antagonist kynurenic acid, suppresses epileptiform activity in combined entorhinal/hippocampal slices. *Neurosci Lett* 224, 115-8 (1997).
- 106. Tackling the global burden of stroke. Lancet Neurol 4, 689 (2005).
- 107. Saver, JL: Time is brain--quantified. Stroke 37, 263-6 (2006).
- 108. Dirnagl, U, C Iadecola, MA Moskowitz: Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. *Trends Neurosci* 22, 391-7 (1999).
- 109. Furlan, AJ, IL Katzan, LR Caplan: Thrombolytic Therapy in Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med* 5, 171-180 (2003).

- 110. Green, AR, T Ashwood, T Odergren, DM Jackson: Nitrones as neuroprotective agents in cerebral ischemia, with particular reference to NXY-059. *Pharmacol Ther* 100, 195-214 (2003).
- 111. Hoyte, L, PA Barber, AM Buchan, MD Hill: The rise and fall of NMDA antagonists for ischemic stroke. *Curr Mol Med* 4, 131-6 (2004).
- Luchowska, E, P Luchowski, A Sarnowska, M Wielosz, WA Turski, EM Urbanska: Endogenous level of kynurenic acid and activities of kynurenine aminotransferases following transient global ischemia in the gerbil hippocampus. *Pol J Pharmacol* 55, 443-7 (2003).
- 113. Saito, K, TS Nowak, Jr., K Suyama *et al.*: Kynurenine pathway enzymes in brain: responses to ischemic brain injury versus systemic immune activation. *J Neurochem* 61, 2061-70 (1993).
- 114. Salvati, P, G Ukmar, L Dho *et al.*: Brain concentrations of kynurenic acid after a systemic neuroprotective dose in the gerbil model of global ischemia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 23, 741-52 (1999).
- 115. Bari, F, K Nagy, P Guidetti, R Schwarcz, DW Busija, F Domoki: Kynurenic acid attenuates NMDA-induced pial arteriolar dilation in newborn pigs. *Brain Res* 1069, 39-46 (2006).
- 116. Heyes, MP, TS Nowak, Jr.: Delayed increases in regional brain quinolinic acid follow transient ischemia in the gerbil. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 10, 660-7 (1990).
- 117. Barber, PA, RN Auer, AM Buchan, GR Sutherland: Understanding and managing ischemic stroke. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 79, 283-96 (2001).
- 118. Cheng, YD, L Al-Khoury, JA Zivin: Neuroprotection for ischemic stroke: two decades of success and failure. *NeuroRx* 1, 36-45 (2004).
- 119. Hoyte, L, J Kaur, AM Buchan: Lost in translation: taking neuroprotection from animal models to clinical trials. *Exp Neurol* 188, 200-4 (2004).
- Dronne, MA, E Grenier, G Chapuisat, M Hommel, JP Boissel: A modelling approach to explore some hypotheses of the failure of neuroprotective trials in ischemic stroke patients. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* 97, 60-78 (2008).
- 121. Davis, M, AD Mendelow, RH Perry, IR Chambers, OF James: Experimental stroke and neuroprotection in the aging rat brain. *Stroke* 26, 1072-8 (1995).
- 122. Schaller, BJ: Influence of age on stroke and preconditioning-induced ischemic tolerance in the brain. *Exp Neurol* 205, 9-19 (2007).
- 123. Darlington, LG, GM Mackay, CM Forrest, N Stoy, C George, TW Stone: Altered kynurenine metabolism correlates with infarct volume in stroke. *Eur J Neurosci* 26, 2211-21 (2007).
- 124. Jover, T, H Tanaka, A Calderone *et al.*: Estrogen protects against global ischemia-induced neuronal death and prevents activation of apoptotic signaling cascades in the hippocampal CA1. *J Neurosci* 22, 2115-24 (2002).
- 125. Miller, NR, T Jover, HW Cohen, RS Zukin, AM Etgen: Estrogen can act via estrogen receptor alpha and beta to protect hippocampal neurons against global ischemia-induced cell death. *Endocrinology* 146, 3070-9 (2005).
- 126. Pulsinelli, WA, JB Brierley: A new model of bilateral hemispheric ischemia in the unanesthetized rat. *Stroke* 10, 267-72 (1979).
- 127. Tanaka, H, SY Grooms, MV Bennett, RS Zukin: The AMPAR subunit GluR2: still front and center-stage. *Brain Res* 886, 190-207 (2000).
- 128. Gigler, G, G Szenasi, A Simo *et al.*: Neuroprotective effect of L-kynurenine sulfate administered before focal cerebral ischemia in mice and global cerebral ischemia in gerbils. *Eur J Pharmacol* 564, 116-22 (2007).
- 129. Block, F: Global ischemia and behavioural deficits. Prog Neurobiol 58, 279-95 (1999).
- 130. Kirino, T: Delayed neuronal death in the gerbil hippocampus following ischemia. *Brain Res* 239, 57-69 (1982).
- 131. Pulsinelli, WA: Selective neuronal vulnerability: morphological and molecular characteristics. *Prog Brain Res* 63, 29-37 (1985).

- 132. Choi, DW: Glutamate neurotoxicity and diseases of the nervous system. Neuron 1, 623-34 (1988).
- 133. Dohmen, C, E Kumura, G Rosner, WD Heiss, R Graf: Extracellular correlates of glutamate toxicity in short-term cerebral ischemia and reperfusion: a direct in vivo comparison between white and gray matter. *Brain Res* 1037, 43-51 (2005).
- 134. Hodgkins, PS, R Schwarcz: Interference with cellular energy metabolism reduces kynurenic acid formation in rat brain slices: reversal by lactate and pyruvate. *Eur J Neurosci* 10, 1986-94 (1998).
- 135. Malenka, RC, RA Nicoll: NMDA-receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity: multiple forms and mechanisms. *Trends Neurosci* 16, 521-7 (1993).
- 136. Gillardon, F, I Kiprianova, J Sandkuhler, KA Hossmann, M Spranger: Inhibition of caspases prevents cell death of hippocampal CA1 neurons, but not impairment of hippocampal long-term potentiation following global ischemia. *Neuroscience* 93, 1219-22 (1999).
- 137. Calabresi, P, D Centonze, A Pisani, L Cupini, G Bernardi: Synaptic plasticity in the ischaemic brain. *Lancet Neurol* 2, 622-9 (2003).
- 138. Gozlan, H, D Diabira, P Chinestra, Y Ben-Ari: Anoxic LTP is mediated by the redox modulatory site of the NMDA receptor. *J Neurophysiol* 72, 3017-22 (1994).
- 139. Obrenovitch, TP, J Urenjak: Altered glutamatergic transmission in neurological disorders: from high extracellular glutamate to excessive synaptic efficacy. *Prog Neurobiol* 51, 39-87 (1997).
- 140. Anderson, CM, RA Swanson: Astrocyte glutamate transport: review of properties, regulation, and physiological functions. *Glia* 32, 1-14 (2000).
- 141. Yu, AC, A Schousboe, L Hertz: Metabolic fate of 14C-labeled glutamate in astrocytes in primary cultures. *J Neurochem* 39, 954-60 (1982).
- Harris, EW: Subtypes of glutamate receptors: pharmacological classification, in CNS Neurotransmitters and Modulators: Glutamate. T.W. Stone Editor, CRC Press: Boca Raton. pp. 95-126 (1995).
- 143. Ascher, P, L Nowak: The role of divalent cations in the N-methyl-D-aspartate responses of mouse central neurones in culture. *J Physiol* 399, 247-66 (1988).
- 144. Konig, N, S Poluch, J Estabel, M Durand, MJ Drian, JM Exbrayat: Synaptic and non-synaptic AMPA receptors permeable to calcium. *Jpn J Pharmacol* 86, 1-17 (2001).
- 145. Ogura, A, M Miyamoto, Y Kudo: Neuronal death in vitro: parallelism between survivability of hippocampal neurones and sustained elevation of cytosolic Ca2+ after exposure to glutamate receptor agonist. *Exp Brain Res* 73, 447-58 (1988).
- 146. Andre, V, N Pineau, JE Motte, C Marescaux, A Nehlig: Mapping of neuronal networks underlying generalized seizures induced by increasing doses of pentylenetetrazol in the immature and adult rat: a c-Fos immunohistochemical study. *Eur J Neurosci* 10, 2094-106 (1998).
- 147. Jiang, W, Q Wan, ZJ Zhang *et al.*: Dentate granule cell neurogenesis after seizures induced by pentylenetrazol in rats. *Brain Res* 977, 141-8 (2003).
- 148. Szyndler, J, P Maciejak, D Turzynska *et al.*: Changes in the concentration of amino acids in the hippocampus of pentylenetetrazole-kindled rats. *Neurosci Lett* 439, 245-9 (2008).
- 149. Vecsei, L, J Miller, U MacGarvey, MF Beal: Kynurenine and probenecid inhibit pentylenetetrazoland NMDLA-induced seizures and increase kynurenic acid concentrations in the brain. *Brain Res Bull* 28, 233-8 (1992).
- 150. Wu, HQ, FG Salituro, R Schwarcz: Enzyme-catalyzed production of the neuroprotective NMDA receptor antagonist 7-chlorokynurenic acid in the rat brain in vivo. *Eur J Pharmacol* 319, 13-20 (1997).
- 151. Pulsinelli, WA, AM Buchan: The four-vessel occlusion rat model: method for complete occlusion of vertebral arteries and control of collateral circulation. *Stroke* 19, 913-4 (1988).
- 152. Burda, J, M Matiasova, M Gottlieb *et al.*: Evidence for a role of second pathophysiological stress in prevention of delayed neuronal death in the hippocampal CA1 region. *Neurochem Res* 30, 1397-405 (2005).

- 153. Hartman, RE, JM Lee, GJ Zipfel, DF Wozniak: Characterizing learning deficits and hippocampal neuron loss following transient global cerebral ischemia in rats. *Brain Res* 1043, 48-56 (2005).
- 154. Ohta, H, H Nishikawa, H Kimura, H Anayama, M Miyamoto: Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion by permanent internal carotid ligation produces learning impairment without brain damage in rats. *Neuroscience* 79, 1039-50 (1997).
- 155. Robotka, H, K Sas, M Ágoston *et al.*: Neuroprotection achieved in the ischaemic rat cortex with Lkynurenine sulphate. *Life Sciences*, 82, 915-919 (2008).
- 156. Sas, K, H Robotka, É Rózsa *et al.*: Kynurenine diminishes the ischemia-induced histological and electrophysiological deficits in the rat hippocampus. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 32, 302-8 (2008).
- 157. Scharfman, HE, JH Goodman: Effects of central and peripheral administration of kynurenic acid on hippocampal evoked responses in vivo and in vitro. *Neuroscience* 86, 751-64 (1998).
- 158. Becker, A, G Grecksch, W Thiemann, V Hollt: Pentylenetetrazol-kindling modulates stimulated dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 66, 425-8 (2000).
- 159. Miller, JM, U MacGarvey, MF Beal: The effect of peripheral loading with kynurenine and probenecid on extracellular striatal kynurenic acid concentrations. *Neurosci Lett* 146, 115-8 (1992).
- Kemp, JA, AC Foster, PD Leeson *et al.*: 7-Chlorokynurenic acid is a selective antagonist at the glycine modulatory site of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85, 6547-50 (1988).
- McNamara, D, EC Smith, DO Calligaro, PJ O'Malley, LA McQuaid, R Dingledine: 5,7-Dichlorokynurenic acid, a potent and selective competitive antagonist of the glycine site on NMDA receptors. *Neurosci Lett* 120, 17-20 (1990).
- Kessler, M, T Terramani, G Lynch, M Baudry: A glycine site associated with N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors: characterization and identification of a new class of antagonists. *J Neurochem* 52, 1319-28 (1989).
- 163. Germano, IM, LH Pitts, BS Meldrum, HM Bartkowski, RP Simon: Kynurenate inhibition of cell excitation decreases stroke size and deficits. *Ann Neurol* 22, 730-4 (1987).
- 164. Szyndler, J, P Rok, P Maciejak *et al.*: Effects of pentylenetetrazol-induced kindling of seizures on rat emotional behavior and brain monoaminergic systems. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 73, 851-61 (2002).
- 165. Rozsa, E, H Robotka, D Nagy *et al.*: The pentylenetetrazole-induced activity in the hippocampus can be inhibited by the conversion of L-kynurenine to kynurenic acid: an in vitro study. *Brain Res Bull* 76, 474-9 (2008).
- 166. Turski, WA, JB Gramsbergen, H Traitler, R Schwarcz: Rat brain slices produce and liberate kynurenic acid upon exposure to L-kynurenine. *J Neurochem* 52, 1629-36 (1989).
- 167. Heiss, WD, K Zeiler, L Havelec, T Reisner, J Bruck: Long-term prognosis in stroke related to cerebral blood flow. *Arch Neurol* 34, 671-6 (1977).
- 168. Yoshida, F, S Sadoshima, K Fujii, K Iino, M Fujishima: Regional cerebral blood flow in chronic stroke patients with dementia. *Jpn J Med* 27, 172-6 (1988).
- 169. Farkas, E, MC de Wilde, AJ Kiliaan, PG Luiten: Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion-related neuropathologic changes and compromised cognitive status: window of treatment. *Drugs Today* (*Barc*) 38, 365-76 (2002).
- 170. Sarti, C, L Pantoni, L Bartolini, D Inzitari: Cognitive impairment and chronic cerebral hypoperfusion: what can be learned from experimental models. *J Neurol Sci* 203-204, 263-6 (2002).
- 171. Zlokovic, BV: Neurovascular mechanisms of Alzheimer's neurodegeneration. *Trends Neurosci* 28, 202-8 (2005).
- 172. de la Torre, JC, T Fortin: A chronic physiological rat model of dementia. *Behav Brain Res* 63, 35-40 (1994).

- 173. Farkas, E, PG Luiten, F Bari: Permanent, bilateral common carotid artery occlusion in the rat: a model for chronic cerebral hypoperfusion-related neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Res Rev* 54, 162-80 (2007).
- 174. Nozaki, K, MF Beal: Neuroprotective effects of L-kynurenine on hypoxia-ischemia and NMDA lesions in neonatal rats. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 12, 400-7 (1992).
- 175. Klivenyi, P, J Toldi, L Vecsei: Kynurenines in neurodegenerative disorders: therapeutic consideration. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 541, 169-83 (2004).
- 176. Nemeth, H, J Toldi, L Vecsei: Role of kynurenines in the central and peripheral nervous systems. *Curr Neurovasc Res* 2, 249-60 (2005).
- 177. Moroni, F, P Russi, G Lombardi, M Beni, V Carla: Presence of kynurenic acid in the mammalian brain. *J Neurochem* 51, 177-80 (1988).
- 178. Brostrom, MA, CO Brostrom: Calcium dynamics and endoplasmic reticular function in the regulation of protein synthesis: implications for cell growth and adaptability. *Cell Calcium* 34, 345-63 (2003).
- 179. Hou, ST, JP MacManus: Molecular mechanisms of cerebral ischemia-induced neuronal death. *Int Rev Cytol* 221, 93-148 (2002).
- 180. Lipton, P: Ischemic cell death in brain neurons. *Physiol Rev* 79, 1431-568 (1999).
- 181. Siesjo, BK, B Hu, T Kristian: Is the cell death pathway triggered by the mitochondrion or the endoplasmic reticulum? *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 19, 19-26 (1999).
- Lee, MS, YT Kwon, M Li, J Peng, RM Friedlander, LH Tsai: Neurotoxicity induces cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpain. *Nature* 405, 360-4 (2000).
- 183. Shelton, SB, GV Johnson: Cyclin-dependent kinase-5 in neurodegeneration. J Neurochem 88, 1313-26 (2004).
- 184. Damjanac, M, A Rioux Bilan, L Barrier *et al.*: Fluoro-Jade B staining as useful tool to identify activated microglia and astrocytes in a mouse transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res* 1128, 40-9 (2007).
- Holland, MA, AA Tan, DC Smith, MR Hoane: Nicotinamide treatment provides acute neuroprotection and GFAP regulation following fluid percussion injury. *J Neurotrauma* 25, 140-52 (2008).
- Crepel, V, C Hammond, K Krnjevic, P Chinestra, Y Ben-Ari: Anoxia-induced LTP of isolated NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic responses. *J Neurophysiol* 69, 1774-8 (1993).
- Crepel, V, Y Ben-Ari: Intracellular injection of a Ca<sup>2+</sup> chelator prevents generation of anoxic LTP. *J Neurophysiol* 75, 770-9 (1996).
- 188. Gozlan, H, Y Ben-Ari: NMDA receptor redox sites: are they targets for selective neuronal protection? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 16, 368-74 (1995).
- 189. Schwarcz, R, R Pellicciari: Manipulation of brain kynurenines: glial targets, neuronal effects, and clinical opportunities. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 303, 1-10 (2002).

## APPENDIX